DETERMINANTS OF MALE PARTNER INVOLVEMENT IN ANTENATAL CARE IN KITUI EAST SUB-COUNTY, KENYA

PASCALYNE KAVESA NYAMAI

MASTER OF SCIENCE (Public Health)

JOMO KENYATTA UNIVERSITY OF AGRICULTURE AND TECHNOLOGY

2023

Determinants of Male Partner Involvement in Antenatal care in Kitui East sub-County, Kenya

Pascalyne Kavesa Nyamai

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Public Health of the Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology

DECLARATION

This thesis is my original work and has not been presented for a degree in any other University

Signature.....Date.....

Pascalyne Kavesa Nyamai

This thesis has been submitted for examination with our approval as the University Supervisors

Signature.....Date.....

Prof. Kenneth Ngure, PhD JKUAT, Kenya

Signature.....Date.....

Dr. Joseph Mwangi Matheri, PhD JKUAT, Kenya

DEDICATION

I dedicate this thesis to my husband Daniel for his support and to my children Leroy and Tara for giving me an easy time when I was working on it.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would like to acknowledge my supervisors Prof. Kenneth Ngure (JKUAT) and Dr. Joseph Matheri (JKUAT) who provided guidance and advice throughout the period from proposal development up to this point. The time they took to go through my work repeatedly, sending comments and reference materials to read helped shape this work. My appreciation also goes to the JKUAT Ethical Review Committee and specifically Dr. Mbindyo for providing the needed assistance. I also wish to extend my gratitude to Mr Kinyumu, PHO in charge of Kitui East Sub County and his team for the immense support during data collection. Lastly, my deep appreciation goes to the data collection team for assisting in data collection as well as the study participants for agreeing to participate in the study.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATIONii
DEDICATIONiii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT iv
TABLE OF CONTENTSv
LIST OF TABLESix
LIST OF FIGURES xi
ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMSxii
ABSTRACTxiv
CHAPTER ONE1
INTRODUCTION1
1.1 Background of the study1
1.2 Statement of the problem
1.3 Justification of the study
1.4 Research Questions
1.5 Objectives of the study5
1.5.1 General Objective5
1.5.2 Specific Objectives5

LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 Proportion of male partner involvement
2.2 Determinants of male involvement7
2.2.1 Socio-demographic factors7
2.2.2 ANC Awareness and Attitude
2.2.3 Socio-cultural factors
2.2.4 Health care system related factors9
2.3 Conceptual framework 11
CHAPTER THREE
MATERIALS AND METHODS13
3.1 Study Design
3.2 Study Area description
3.3 Study Population
3.3.1 Inclusion Criteria14
3.3.2 Exclusion Criteria14
3.4 Sampling14
3.4.1 Sample Size Determination14
3.4.1 Sample Size Determination143.4.2 Sampling Method15

3.5.1 Data collection instrument
3.5.2 Validity and Reliability of the instrument16
3.5.3 Recruitment and Training of Research Assistants
3.5.4 Data collection procedure
3.6 Data Management and analysis20
3.7 Ethical Considerations
3.8 Study Limitations
CHAPTER FOUR
RESULTS
4.1 Socio-demographic characteristics
4.2 Proportion of male partners involved in antenatal care
4.2.1 Distribution of male partner involvement
4.2.2 Male Involvement Domains
4.3 Determinants of male partner involvement in ANC
4.3.1 Socio-cultural factors and Attitude
4.3.2 Health services' related factors
4.3.3 Male partners' ANC Awareness
4.4 Bivariate analyses of factors associated with male involvement
4.5 Independent predictors of male partner involvement

CHAPTER FIVE
DISCUSSION, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 45
5.1 Discussion
5.1.1 Socio-demographic characteristics
5.1.2 Proportion of Male Partner Involvement
5.1.3 Socio-cultural factors
5.1.4 Health services' related factors
5.1.5 Antenatal care awareness in relation to male involvement
5.2 Conclusions
5.3 Recommendations
REFERENCES
APPENDICES

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1: Socio-cultural items scale's Cronbach's alpha 17
Table 3.2: Socio-cultural items scale's Cronbach's alpha
Table 3.3: Health Services Scale's Cronbach's Alpha
Table 4.1: Distribution of respondents by socio-demographic characteristics
Table 4.2: Physical support 27
Table 4.3: Psychosocial support
Table 4.4: Decision making support
Table 4.5: Level of financial support 31
Table 4.6: Socio-Cultural Norms 32
Table 4.7: Attitude towards male involvement in ANC
Table 4.8: Socio-cultural norms/ Attitude Scores 33
Table 4.9: Multivariate analysis of attitude and socio-cultural norms
Table 4.10: Health services related factors
Table 4.11: Health services related factors associated with male partner involvement 25
Table 4.12: Health services related score
Table 4.13: Health Services Related Factors Multivariate Analyses 36
Table 4.14: Bivariate analyses on ANC package awareness 39
Table 4.15: Danger signs awareness association with involvement

Table 4.16: Responding to pregnancy related emergencies	41
Table 4.17: Bivariate analyses of factors associated with male involvement	42
Table 4.18: Independent Predictors of Male Involvement	44

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1: Conceptual Framework	. 12
Figure 4.1: Proportion of male partner involvement in ANC	. 25
Figure 4.2: Distribution of male partner involvement in ANC	. 25
Figure 4.3: Heard of ANC	. 37
Figure 4.4: Heard of ANC	. 37
Figure 4.5: Level of awareness of ANC package	. 38
Figure 4.6: Awareness of danger signs	. 39
Figure 4.7: Danger signs awareness	. 40

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix I: Ethical Clearance	
Appendix II: NACOSTI Permit	59
Appendix III: Participant Information Sheet	60
Appendix IV: Consent Form	63
Appendix V: Questionnaire	64
Appendix VI: Publication	73
Appendix VII: Map of Kitui County	

ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

ANC	Antenatal Care
CHAs	Community Health Assistants
CHWs	Community Health Workers
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
KDHS	Kenya Demographic and Health Survey
KNBS	Kenya National Bureau of Statistics
MMR	Maternal Mortality Rate
MPI	Male Partner Involvement
MS	Microsoft
NACOSTI	National Commission for Science, Technology and Innovation
PMTCT	Prevention of Mother to Child Transmission
SBA	Skilled Birth Attendants
SDG	Sustainable Development Goals

- **SPSS** Statistical Package for Social Science
- **WHO** World Health Organisation

ABSTRACT

Male partner involvement in antenatal care has been a challenge globally over the years despite previous research evidence having shown that their involvement results in improved maternal outcomes. For instance, in Kenya where maternal mortality rate is 362 per 100,000 live births, only 1 out of 4 men accompany their spouses to the antenatal clinic. However, there is lack of information concerning factors influencing male partner involvement in ANC. The main objective of this study was to establish the determinants of male partner involvement in ANC in Kitui East sub-County. A cross sectional study design utilizing quantitative methods was adopted. Probability sampling method (stratified at ward level and simple random at household level) was used to reach a sample of 297 households. In each household, data was collected by use of questionnaires after the researcher gained informed consent. The study population was men aged 18 years and above whose female partners had given birth in the past 12 months. Collected data were entered and analysed in SPSS version 24. Both descriptive and inferential analyses statistics were calculated. The results indicated that overall, more than half (61%) of the participants were involved in ANC. Factors including age of the participant, number of children, pregnancy planning, previous ANC experience, awareness of ANC and financial decision making significantly (P<0.05) influenced male involvement. This study concludes that empowering men with knowledge on ANC specifically awareness of the danger signs during pregnancy, the antenatal profile and the required minimum number of ANC visits is imperative in order to improve male involvement.

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background of the study

Over the years, male partner involvement in antenatal care has been wanting globally raising public health concern (Mackert et al., 2015). Antenatal care (ANC) is defined as the care provided by skilled healthcare professionals to pregnant women and adolescent girls to ensure the best health conditions for both mother and baby during pregnancy (WHO, 2016). It is a fundamental component of maternal healthcare that encompasses a series of healthcare visits and interventions aimed at monitoring the progress of pregnancy, promoting the wellbeing of both the mother and the unborn child and identifying and managing potential complications. Antenatal care has been shown to improve pregnancy outcomes by reducing maternal mortality. The demand for male partner involvement in ANC has been reported in developed countries. In the United States, only a few studies have been done which focus on men's involvement in ANC, instead most previous researches focused almost entirely on interventions amongst women that aimed at improving maternal and child health outcomes (Bond, 2010). In a review of 3 studies on first time expectant mothers investigating methods for including men in ANC education in Turkey, Mackert et al. (2015) established that pregnant women demand to have their husbands actively involved in ANC.

Low partner involvement in ANC has also been recorded in medium-low income countries including Asia (Ampt *et al.*, 2015) and India (Bhatta, 2013). In a cross-sectional study conducted among 2,178 married men on their involvement in ANC in Kathmandu, Nepal, Bhatta (2013) found that only 39.3% accompanied their partners to ANC. Further, in a study carried out on 210 men in Asia on male involvement in maternal and new born health, Ampt *et al.* (2015) reported that at least 36% were not actively involved. Countries in Africa that account for the bulk of maternal deaths have correspondingly low levels of male partner involvement. For instance, in a study conducted in Malawi amongst 476 women enrolled in a PMTCT program,

Kalembo *et al.* (2013) found that 9 out of 10 (86.3%) women had no male partner active involvement during their ANC.

Low male partner active involvement in ANC has also been recorded in sub-Saharan African countries like Ethiopia (Ayalew *et al.*, 2020) and Uganda (Alupo *et al.*, 2020). In an Ethiopian study on determinants of male partner involvement towards prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV/AIDS service utilization amongst 420 pregnant women, found that the proportion of male partner involvement was 29.8% (Ayalew *et al.*, 2020). Further, a study conducted in Uganda amongst 195 adult men on male partner involvement in utilization of ANC services found that only 9.6% of the men accompanied their spouses to the ANC for at least 4 visits (Alupo *et al.*, 2020). Locally, Kenya has also recorded low male partner involvement in ANC (Aluisio *et al.*, 2016). In a prospective cohort study conducted in Nairobi, Kenya, amongst women attending ANC, Aluisio *et al.* (2016) found that only 1 out of 4 (26%) men accompanied their spouses to the ANC.

Whereas previous studies conducted in the region focused mostly on male partner physical attendance, they omitted the emotional, financial and decision-making support men gave to their expectant women. Control of finances, physical support, emotional support, and decision-making influence expectant women's access to ANC service (Kabakyenga et al., 2012). In Sub-Saharan Africa specifically in Kenya, no study has been published on the different types of support men provide their expectant spouses. The purpose of the current study was to fill this gap. It aimed at establishing the determinants of male partner involvement in ANC on four domains, that is, physical support, financial support, psychosocial support and decision-making. This is essential because researchers have shown that male partner involvement in ANC results in improved maternal outcomes in developing countries (Suandi et al., 2020). For instance, in a systematic review and meta-analyses of published literature from low and middle income countries to find out whether involving male partners in ANC improve health care utilisation, Suandi et al. (2020) found that male involvement in ANC had a positive impact on the uptake of maternal health services thus improved maternal and new born health outcomes.

1.2 Statement of the problem

Pregnancy is a highly vulnerable period for women and their unborn babies (Mwilike *et al.*, 2018; Sageer *et al.*, 2019). Therefore, access to ANC services is critical in ensuring women receive skilled care that will mitigate against any complications, and ultimately contribute towards reversing the alarmingly high maternal mortality rate, especially in sub-Saharan Africa (WHO, 2016, 2019). Male partner involvement in reproductive, maternal and new born health has been associated with improved maternal and child health outcomes (Chibwae *et al.*, 2018).

The consequences arising from the lack of male partner involvement in ANC include increased maternal mortality rate. Maternal mortality remains a major concern in the Kenyan society. The KDHS 2014 report showed that Kenya has a maternal mortality rate (MMR) of 362 per 100,000 live births. In Kitui County alone, the KDHS 2014 report recorded 468 deaths per 100,000 live births. Previous studies conducted in other developed countries show that preventable maternal deaths are primarily a function of delays in seeking care; reaching health care facilities and getting appropriate care although the first two delays are avertable person and/or family-related factors (Shah *et al.*, 2020). In many low and middle income settings, men are breadwinners and key decision makers (Peneza & Maluka, 2018; Yargawa & Leonardi-Bee, 2015), hence their involvement is critical in eliminating key barriers that women face which contribute to the first two major delays in accessing quality maternal care (Mgawadere *et al.*, 2017; Shah *et al.*, 2020; Sk *et al.*, 2019).

In light of the high rates of MMR, it is evident that male partner involvement in ANC could contribute to safer pregnancies and reduced MMR and therefore the need to generate baselines on the proportion of men involved in ANC and the factors that influence their involvement.

1.3 Justification of the study

Despite the critical importance of male partners during pregnancy, there is paucity of information on the impact of supports men provide for their spouses (women) ANC in Kenya. In addition, previous studies have paid little attention to factors influencing

male partner involvement in ANC. If not addressed, the maternal loss, which is more than twice the global average, occasioned by lack of male partner involvement in ANC, may cause Kenya to lag behind her neighbours in the Sustainable Development Goal 3 (SDG 3). Further, there is no data to show the proportion of male partners involved in ANC in Kitui East sub-County yet the KDHS 2014 report recorded 468 deaths per 100,000 live births in Kitui County alone. This study aimed to determine the factors influencing male partner involvement in antenatal care in four domains that is, physical support; financial support; psychosocial support and decision making. The study established an empirical baseline data that is comparable to those of other countries in the region and beyond. The data obtained forms a useful baseline for practitioners in ANC and allied health and may assist in the development of model programs to mitigate poor maternal outcomes. Recommendations from this study can as well be adopted by program implementers to design and implement targeted interventions for improving male partner involvement in ANC. The evidence can inform policy and planning for services at National and County levels to increase male involvement towards reducing the high MMR. The study also contributes to the global body of knowledge on the determinants of male partner involvement in ANC. The findings of this study will go a long way in assisting Kenya to realise its developmental goals, and more specifically SDG 3 that focuses on reducing the global maternal mortality rate to less than 70 per 100 000 live births.

1.4 Research Questions

- What is the proportion of male partners involved in ANC of their spouses in Kitui East sub-County?
- 2. What is the male partners' awareness of ANC and attitude towards involvement in ANC in Kitui East sub-County?
- 3. What are the socio-cultural factors influencing male partner involvement in ANC in Kitui East sub-County?
- 4. What are the health services' related factors influencing male partner involvement in ANC in Kitui East sub-County?

1.5 Objectives of the study

1.5.1 General Objective

To establish the determinants of male partner involvement in ANC in Kitui East sub-County

1.5.2 Specific Objectives

- 1. To determine the proportion of male partners involved in ANC of their spouses in Kitui East sub-County
- 2. To assess the male partners' awareness of ANC and attitude towards involvement in ANC in Kitui East sub-County
- 3. To establish the socio-cultural factors influencing male partner involvement in ANC in Kitui East sub-County
- 4. To determine health services' related factors influencing male partner involvement in ANC in Kitui East sub-County

CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Proportion of male partner involvement

Previous studies indicate that male partner involvement in antenatal care is still a challenge. For instance, in a study conducted among 210 men in Myanmar Asia on male involvement in maternal and new born health, Ampt *et al.* (2015) reported that at least 36% of them were not actively involved. Further, in a cross-sectional study conducted among 2,178 married men on involvement of males in ANC in Kathmandu, Nepal, Bhatta (2013) found that only 39.3% of them accompanied their partners to ANC. In Africa, in a study conducted in Johannesburg, South Africa among 150 women on acceptability and preferences among men and women for male involvement in ANC, Yende *et al.* (2017) reported that only 14% of men accompanied their partners to the ANC. Additionally, in a study conducted in Malawi amongst 476 women enrolled in a PMTCT program, Kalembo *et al.* (2013) found that 9 out of 10 (86.3%) women had no male partner active involvement during their ANC.

Low male partner active involvement in ANC has also been recorded in Sub-Saharan African countries like Ethiopia (Ayalew *et al.*, 2020) and Uganda (Alupo *et al.*, 2020). In an Ethiopian study on determinants of male partner involvement towards prevention of mother to child transmission service utilization amongst 420 pregnant women, Ayalew *et al.* (2020) found that the proportion of male partner involvement was 29.8%. Further, in a study conducted in Uganda amongst 195 adult men on male partner involvement in utilization of ANC services Alupo *et al.* (2020) found that only 9.6% of the men accompanied their spouses to the ANC for at least 4 visits. Locally, Kenya has also recorded low male partner involvement in ANC (Aluisio *et al.*, 2016). In a prospective cohort study conducted in Nairobi, Kenya, amongst women attending ANC, Aluisio *et al.* (2016) found that only 1 out of 4 (26%) of men accompanied their spouses to the ANC. There is no data on male partner involvement in Kitui.

2.2 Determinants of male involvement

2.2.1 Socio-demographic factors

Some individual socio-demographic factors have been associated with the noninvolvement of men in the ANC activities (Kariuki & Seruwagi, 2016; Tilahun & Mohamed, 2015). In a study conducted amongst 384 men whose spouses were attending ANC in Wakiso, Uganda on determinants of male involvement in ANC, Kariuki & Seruwagi (2016) found that men aged 25 years and over demonstrated greater involvement than those aged below 25 years. Further, in an Ethiopian community-based study amongst 720 men whose spouses had given birth 12 months prior to the study, Tilahun & Mohamed (2015) found that older men are keener on providing for their families and are highly likely to accompany their partners to ANC compared to the younger men.

Besides age, marital status and level of education have also been shown to influence male partner involvement in ANC (Amano & Musa, 2016; Ampt *et al.*, 2015). In a cross-sectional study carried out amongst 210 men in Myanmar Asia on male partner involvement in maternal and newborn health, Ampt *et al.* (2015) found that men in monogamous or those cohabiting with their female partners were highly likely to be involved contrary to their counterparts. Additionally, in a study conducted among 802 men in Gondar, Ethiopia on factors associated with male partner involvement in PMTCT, Amano & Musa (2016) found that men with low level of education are most unlikely to participate in PMTCT activities contrary to those with higher level of education.

Low pay is another factor that influences men's participation in ANC (van den Berg *et al.*, 2015). In a South African study to assess men participation in preventing mother to child transmission of HIV, van den Berg *et al.* (2015) found that financially stable men were more likely to visit ANC with their partners and pay for un-planned services in contrast to individuals who have low or no source of income.

2.2.2 ANC Awareness and Attitude

Research evidence has shown that knowledge of ANC amongst men may influence the extent to which individuals are exposed to ANC activities (Kabanga *et al.*, 2019; Nanjala & Wamalwa, 2012). In a cross sectional study amongst 380 male partners and their spouses, Nanjala and Wamalwa (2012) found that lack of knowledge among male partners regarding complications associated with pregnancy and delivery contributed to low male partner involvement in ANC. Further, in a study conducted in Kyela District, Tanzania on prevalence of male partner involvement in antenatal care visits among 174 pregnant women, Kabanga *et al.* (2019) found that lack of awareness of ANC services among their spouses was found to be one of the reasons for low involvement.

Although men may show interest and concern about their wives and unborn baby's health, their lack of knowledge on danger signs is a significant barrier to their participation (Kabakyenga *et al.*, 2012). In a study conducted amongst 759 women to assess the influence of birth preparedness and decision making on location of birth and assistance by skilled birth attendants among women in South Western Uganda, Kabakyenga *et al.* (2012) found that the lack of knowledge amongst men concerning pregnancy-related complications and requirements makes them withhold support from their spouses during pregnancy.

Previous studies have shown that men at times generally have negative attitudes towards certain issues and views which in turn hinder them from participating in ANC-related activities (Kariuki & Seruwagi, 2016; Nkuoh *et al.*, 2013). In a study conducted in Wakiso District, Uganda on determinants of male partner involvement in antenatal care, Kariuki & Seruwagi (2016) found that majority of men viewed ANC as being a place for "females" and felt embarrassed being in such places. The community in which an individual resides can also influence their attitudes and behaviour. Further, in a study conducted in Cameroon on barriers to men's participation in antenatal and prevention of mother to child HIV transmission, Nkuoh *et al.* (2013) found that men generally avoid being teased or ridiculed when participating or being supportive of their wives.

2.2.3 Socio-cultural factors

Norms and taboos mainly associated with African societies where there is a misconception that ANC is a women affair can affect the participation of men in ANC activities (Asefa *et al.*, 2014). Men may be more inclined to participate in ANC if they see their peers doing the same or if community leaders endorse and advocate for male involvement. In a cross-sectional study conducted in Harare, Ethiopia, amongst 385 women attending ANC, Asefa et al. (2014) found that lack of male partner involvement in ANC is associated with the fact that men shy away from accompanying their spouses to ANC because the community will view them as weak. In many societies, gender norms and expectations have traditionally positioned pregnancy and childbirth as primarily women's domain thus hindering men from getting involved. In a study conducted in Tanzania on perception of male involvement in pregnancy and childbirth, Maluka & Peneza (2018) found that traditional gender roles at home as well as some cultures portraying men visiting the ANC with women as being weaklings influenced male involvement. In essence, such cultures make men not to be involved with issues related to attending ANC as they are meant to be visited by women.

2.2.4 Health care system related factors

Researchers have demonstrated that health care system factors also influence men's visits to ANC with their spouses (Alupo *et al.*, 2020; Tweheyo *et al.*, 2010). In a study conducted in Gulu, Uganda on male partner attendance of skilled ANC, Tweheyo *et al.* (2010) found that men who live far from the health facility are more likely not to accompany their partners to the ANC compared to those who live close to health facilities. Further, in a study conducted in Uganda amongst 195 adult men on male partner involvement in utilization of ANC services, Alupo *et al.* (2020) found that couple friendly infrastructure that ensures privacy may improve male partner involvement.

The health workers can also encourage or discourage male involvement depending on the way they handle their clients, in that, harsh language and aggressive behaviours not only discourage women from participating from ANC but also their male partners (Ditekemena *et al.*, 2012; Kariuki & Seruwagi, 2016; Matseke *et al.*, 2017). For instance, in a study conducted in Wakiso District, Uganda on determinants of male partner involvement in antenatal care Kariuki & Seruwagi (2016) found that health worker's attitude, waiting time and cost of the ANC services offered was significantly associated with male partner involvement. In addition, in a study conducted in South Africa on meaning and understanding of male partner in pregnancy related care, Matseke *et al.*, (2017) found that health workers who roughly handle pregnant women and those who restrict men from certain clinic settings discourage men from attendance. In such instances, men feel disrespected, unwelcomed and that the services are not designed to include and encourage their participation. Further, in a systematic review (of 34 studies) to establish the determinants of male partner's involvement in maternal and child health services in Sub-Saharan Africa, Ditekemena *et al.* (2012) found that health providers and lack of space at the facility influence men involvement.

There are times where the hospitals may charge unofficial fees that may discourage the participation of men (Nanjala & Wamalwa, 2012). In a survey of determinants of male partner involvement in promoting deliveries by skilled attendants conducted in Busia County, in Kenya, amongst 380 couples (male partners and their spouses), Nanjala & Wamalwa (2012) found that high fee for ANC services prevent men from getting involved to avoid being embarrassed should they lack the funds to cater for the services. On the other hand, longer waiting periods in health facilities and/or a smaller workforce makes it increasingly difficult for men to wait for their spouses (Shahjahan *et al.*, 2013). In a study conducted in Bangladesh amongst 615 men Shahjahan *et al.* (2013) found that majority of the men would rather not accompany their partners to ANC because of the waiting time.

The ANC is usually composed of women and in most instances their male partners find the space unfriendly and there is usually insufficient space. A facility that offers male friendly services and care that is all round motivates male partners to be involved in seeking services in the facility (Gracia, 2014). In a study conducted in Spain on fathers' childcare involvement and children's age, Gracia (2014) found that health clinics that are mainly dominated by women put off men from attending the facilities while in facilities with some male health workers, men are active and increase their participation in both counselling and check-up activities for the wellbeing of the partner and their child.

2.3 Conceptual framework

This framework describes various ways in which a male partner can be involved in antenatal care and some of the factors that make a male partner be/not be involved in antenatal care. There are four different aspects highlighted in which a male partner can offer support to his spouse during pregnancy thus indicating his involvement. These four ways are physical support, financial support, psychosocial support and support in decision-making. Most of the previous researches have focused more on the physical support that entails the male partner accompanying the spouse to the antenatal clinic. However, this study looked at the four aspects of the support.

For a male partner to give either of the support mentioned, there are some factors that will determine. These include awareness of antenatal services or lack of it in the case of the male partner; sociocultural factors like beliefs and taboos; health services related factors like waiting time, attitude of the health care workers; and individual socio demographic factors such as age, level of education and income level. How these factors can influence male partner support, whether physical, financial, psychosocial or support in decision making may be a function of his knowledge interaction with various factors (see figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1: Conceptual Framework

CHAPTER THREE

MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Study Design

This study was an analytical cross-sectional study utilizing quantitative methods to establish the determinants of male partner involvement in antenatal care. A cross-sectional study is a type of observational study that involves collecting and analysing data from a population or a representative subset at a specific point in time (Levin, 2006).

3.2 Study Area description

This study was carried out in Kitui East sub-County. This is one of the eight sub counties in Kitui County (see appendix 7). Kitui East sub-County has approximately 17,143 households (KNBS, 2015). The main economic activity in Kitui East sub-County is farming though it is an extremely challenging endeavour due to the sporadic rainfall. The poverty level in Kitui County is 63.1%. Kitui East sub-County was chosen because it is one of the sub-Counties with low ANC coverage (62% vs 63.6% for the County) and low skilled delivery coverage (73.6% vs 78.3% for the County). In addition, Kitui County MMR is high (468 deaths per 100,000 livebirths) compared to the national MMR (362 deaths per 100,000 livebirths.

3.3 Study Population

The study population were men above 18 years whose female partners had given birth 12 months prior to the study. According to 2019 census, the population of men in Kitui County is 48% of the entire population of 1,136,187. The percentage of women of child bearing age attending ANC is 62%.

3.3.1 Inclusion Criteria

Men aged 18 years and above whose female partners had childbirth within 12 months prior to the study. Only eligible men residing in Kitui East sub-County who gave written consent were included in the study.

3.3.2 Exclusion Criteria

Those who had communication and cognitive difficulties were excluded.

3.4 Sampling

3.4.1 Sample Size Determination

The sample size for this study was derived using Cochran's formula with precision /absolute error of 5% and type 1 error of 5% (Rosner, Bernard, 2010).

$$n = \frac{Z_{1-\alpha/2}^{2} p(1-p)}{d^{2}}$$

Where;

n = the desired sample size.

 $Z_{1-\alpha/2}$ =the standard normal variate (at 5% type 1 error, P<0.05) =1.96

p = is the estimated proportion of male participation in ANC found in a previous study (Aluisio *et al.*, 2016).

d= is the absolute error or precision-decided by researches usually 5%.

Therefore, the sample size was;

 $\frac{(1.96)^2 x(0.262) x(0.738)}{(0.05)^2}$

3.4.2 Sampling Method

Sampling was done in two stages- at the ward level and at the household level Stratified sampling was used to sample the wards dividing them to 2 strata (peri urban and rural) then randomly selecting 1 peri-urban ward out of 2 and 2 rural wards out of 3 to give a total of 3 wards. Households were randomly selected. The sampling frame was all the approximately 17,143 households in Kitui East sub-County. The sampling proportion was derived from KDHS 2014, where there were 438 live births from 850 households in the five-year period; translating to approximately 90 births per year; which translates to one reported birth per 10 households. The sampling proportion was applied to the sample size of 297 to arrive at 2,970 households from which participants would be recruited. The researcher equally distributed the 2,970 households across the 3 wards (990 households per ward). All community units (18) within the 3 wards were identified and then randomly selected 990 households from the household registers. Community Health Workers from the community units covering the selected households were engaged to help identify households with eligible participants and mapped them. They then guided the data collection team to the selected households. Once in the households the head of the household was identified and consent for the study sought. Thereafter data was collected. The data collection team repeated this in every household until the sample size was achieved.

3.5 Data Collection

Data was collected using interviewer administered questionnaire administered by trained research assistants to the eligible male respondents.

3.5.1 Data collection instrument

A structured questionnaire was used to collect data. The questionnaire was subdivided into 9 parts. Part 1 comprised 15 questions on demographic information; part 2, had 14 questions on physical support of male partner on antenatal care; part 3,

had 7 questions on psychosocial support; while part 4, had 6 questions on decision making. Part 5, had 6 questions on financial support; while part 6, had 15 questions on awareness of ANC; and part 7, 8 questions on attitude. Further, part 8, had 8 questions on social and cultural norms; and part 9, had 15 questions on health system factors.

3.5.2 Validity and Reliability of the instrument

Throughout the construction of the instrument, the researcher continuously consulted experts in the area of the study. In addition, the questionnaire was pretested on 15 respondents with similar characteristics residing in Kitui Central Sub-County. The respondents had no difficulties with the questions and appreciated its layout. The questionnaire took them on average 30 minutes to complete.

A reliability test done for socio-cultural norms scale calculated an overall Cronbach's alpha of .848 showing that the items had high internal consistency. All items in the scale were therefore retained (see Table 3.1).

Socio-Cultural Norms	Scale	Scale	Corrected	Cronbach's
	Mean if	Variance if	Item-Total	Alpha if Item
	Item	Item	Correlation	Deleted
	Deleted	Deleted		
Childbearing is a women's affair	24.16	39.79	0.64	0.823
and does not require the husband's				
participation				
Antenatal care is women's business	24.03	39.02	0.69	0.817
and a man should not have to				
worry about it				
Fear of being tested for HIV hinder	24.09	43.36	0.52	0.838
accompanying wife to the clinic				
Bad omen for men to escort their	23.58	43.88	0.51	0.839
pregnant women to hospital for				
antenatal check ups				
Male friends think pregnancy and	24.15	40.91	0.67	0.819
child birth is women's business				
Being viewed as less of a man if	24.02	40.81	0.70	0.816
seen escorting pregnant wife to	2		0170	01010
hospital				
Religious beliefs affect decisions	23.04	48 57	0.38	0.851
on antenatal care	23.01	10.07	0.50	0.001
Traditional and cultural beliefs in	23 44	43 45	0.57	0.832
community affect decision on	23.11	13.15	0.57	0.052
antenatal care				
Cronbach's Alnha				0 848
Ci unuacii și Alpila				0.040

Table 3.1: Socio-cultural items scale's Cronbach's alpha

On doing a reliability test, all items on the scale to determine attitude towards male partner involvement in ANC were retained with an overall Cronbach's alpha of .812, indication that the items had high internal consistency (see table 3.2).

Attitude	Scale Mean	Scale	Corrected	Cronbach's
	if Item	Variance if	Item-Total	Alpha if Item
	Deleted	Item Deleted	Correlation	Deleted
Pregnancy is a risky period for the mother's health	17.79	23.84	0.58	0.785
It is important for a pregnant woman to go for Antenatal check-up	19.15	29.30	0.48	0.801
When a woman is pregnant, it is her responsibility to go to the clinic (R)	17.17	28.00	0.45	0.804
Interested in knowing more about ANC	18.74	27.73	0.58	0.786
Men share the responsibility of antenatal care with their wives	18.08	24.25	0.71	0.757
Men should accompany their wives to the clinic when they are pregnant	17.68	23.56	0.67	0.765
Men feel embarrassed accompanying their wife to the antenatal clinic (R)	17.65	26.99	0.44	0.806
Cronbach's Alpha				0.812

Table 3.2: Socio-cultural items scale's Cronbach's alpha

On doing a reliability test, all items in the scale for health services related factors were retained as they were found to have high internal consistency with an overall Cronbach's alpha of .893 (see Table 3.3).

Harldh Carrier Frankarra	C. L. M.	61.	C	C
Health Services Factors	Scale Mean	Scale	Corrected	Crondach's
	If Item	variance ii	Item-1otal	Alpha if Item
	Deleted	Item Deleted	Correlation	Deleted
Slow service provision and long	28.39	45.89	0.63	0.885
Lack of privacy and crowded	20.06	50.48	0.47	0.896
waiting bay and counseling	29.00	50.40	0.47	0.890
space.				
Service providers rude and	28.01	47.09	0.68	0.878
unfriendly				
Offered sufficient consultation	27.90	48.18	0.81	0.871
time and received sufficient				
information				
Given the opportunity to ask	27.94	46.12	0.82	0.867
questions and clarify doubts				
during consultation				
Opinions taken into	28.13	50.44	0.58	0.886
consideration				
Treated respectfully and not	28.10	48.29	0.68	0.878
judged by staff				
Given priority because of	29.12	48.97	0.54	0.890
accompanying wife				
Motive for visit addressed and	27.87	48.64	0.77	0.873
the medical care received				
satisfactory				
Cronbach's Alpha				0.893

Table 3.3: Health Services Scale's Cronbach's Alpha

3.5.3 Recruitment and Training of Research Assistants

Prior to data collection, the principal researcher conducted training of research assistants. The training covered purpose of the study, eligibility criteria, study methodology and sampling procedure. A detailed question by question review of the questionnaire with role plays was done to ensure an in-depth understanding of study tool. In addition, ethical considerations in research involving human subjects including consenting procedures by respondents was covered.

3.5.4 Data collection procedure

The research assistants were led to the mapped households by the CHWs. Once at the household, they identified the head of the household, sought consent and thereafter administered the questionnaire.

3.6 Data Management and analysis

Collected data was entered into MS-Excel software twice and descriptive statistics calculated using SPSS version 23.0 to check for errors. Any errors noted were corrected by re-entering data from individual questionnaires. Once data entry was corrected, descriptive analyses was employed to analyse data on; socio-demographic characteristics, ANC awareness and attitude, socio-cultural norms and health system factors. The association between male involvement and other variables were estimated using bivariate logistic regression, which were first fitted to identify potential predictors and confounding factors. Variables with a *p*-value <0.05 were entered to generalized linear models using logit link to identify independent predictors of male involvement. Adjusted odds ratio with its 95% confidence interval was calculated to report the strength and significance of the association. All tests were two sided and statistical significance was set at p = <0.05.

The researcher identified twelve (12) questions that directly measured male involvement in antenatal care from the four major domains of male involvement; physical support, psycho-social support, decision making support and financial support (See Appendix 5). The respondents answered either "yes" or "no" in all questions except for 2 questions on decision making where if either the man or both partners made the decision it was coded as 1 or else it was coded as 0. For all other questions "Yes" was coded as 1 "No" as 0.

Data reduction techniques were used to summarize the observed male involvement variables into few dimensions through latent variable modeling using the "eRm" (Mair & Hatzinger, 2007), "ltm" (Ltm, 2006), and "difR" (Magis *et al.*, 2020) R package. Component internal consistency and reliability used to calculate male involvement scores were assessed by calculating Cronbach's alpha (α), which was found to be 0.913 (95% C.I, 0.896-0.926).

Pairwise associations between the 12 items for all possible pairs were computed and all variables were found to be significantly positively correlated to each other, hence all items were retained. Factor scores were then generated by fitting a one parameter logistic regression model, also known as the Rasch model. The scores had a bimodal negatively skewed distribution, suggesting that there were two groups. Respondents scoring less than zero were classified as "not-involved" while those with more than zero were classified as "involved". Each participant needed to score a 1 in at least 9 of the 12 items (75% and above).

3.7 Ethical Considerations

Ethical clearance to conduct the study was granted by the JKUAT Ethical Review Committee-Reference number: JKU/2/4/896B (see appendix 1) and a research permit received from the National Commission for Science, Technology and Innovation (NACOSTI)-Reference number: 314480 (see appendix 2). Informed written consent was obtained from potential study participants before commencement of data collection (see appendix 4). During the consenting process, the research assistants explained the objectives and purpose of the study. Additionally, the potential participants were explained that their participation would be entirely voluntary and they could opt out of the study willingly without any prejudice. The potential participants were assured that their anonymity and confidentiality would be maintained throughout the research process. Further, data collection was conducted in settings that guaranteed audio privacy. There were no direct benefits to participants in this study, other than the overall findings from this study being used to improve services delivery in order to encourage male partner involvement in antenatal care.

The data collection team also informed the respondents that there were no risks that were likely to occur from their participation other than probably feeling embarrassed and uncomfortable discussing their sensitive information with the study team. In mitigation, participants were invited to disclose when they experience discomfort during the study or they could opt-out of answering questions that made them uncomfortable or withdraw from the study.

3.8 Study Limitations

This study had several limitations. First, this study only interviewed male respondents, and did not interview their spouses to corroborate the information
reported. There is a likelihood of social desirability bias from some of the respondents who may have wanted to appear more involved than they actually had been. Secondly, the study is likely to have suffered from recall bias since we sampled participants whose spouses had given birth twelve months prior to the study, and they may have forgotten details of their experiences. Finally, Kitui East sub-County is geographically large with a small urban section of the sub-County being densely populated, while rural forms the larger section that is sparsely populated. While we attempted to account for this through stratified sampling when selecting the 3 administrative wards, there is likelihood that these differentials may not be accurately accounted for in the results. Despite these limitations, this study provides empirical evidence on the levels of male partner involvement and associated factors in Kitui East sub-county, Kenya.

CHAPTER FOUR

RESULTS

4.1 Socio-demographic characteristics

A total of 300 participants were interviewed. Mean age was 36.7, median=36.5 (range 18-65) years. Majority of the respondents were aged between 35-44 years (43.3%), and those aged 18-24 years were the least (5.7%). The mean age for their spouse/ wife was 30.7, median 30.0 and ranged from 17-50 years. With regards to age difference, most (44.6%) were aged 5+ years more than their spouses, and close to 2/5 (39.2%) were aged 1-5 years more than their spouses, 11.1% of the respondents had the same age with their spouses while 5.1% were younger than their spouses. More than half (52.3%) of the respondents had primary education and below, 30.7% had secondary education and 17% had tertiary/post-secondary education. In terms of spouse education, majority (61.0%) had primary and a few (24.7%) had secondary and the least (14.3%) had tertiary/post-secondary education. Majority of the respondents (88%) were living with their spouses. In terms of level of income majority (37.3%) earned between 5,000-10,000Kshs (\$50-100) per month, while < 1/3 (31.3%) earned below 5,000Kshs (\$50) monthly and only 11.3% earned \geq 31,000Kshs (\$310) monthly. Concerning family size, most of the respondents (64.3%) had between 1-3 children while about one third (35.7%) had 3 children and above. Only 18.7% of the respondents were formally employed, while 45.3% were in informal employment. The rest were self-employed (34.6%), or receiving financial support from parents or spouse (1.3%). (see Table 4.1).

Variable	Category	Frequency	Percentage
		(N=300)	(%)
Participants Age	18-24 Years	17	5.7
	25-34 Years	101	33.7
	35-44 Years	130	43.3
	45+	52	17.3
Education Level	Primary and below	157	52.3
	Secondary	92	30.7
	Tertiary/ Post-secondary	51	17.0
Religion	Roman Catholic	66	22.0
-	Protestant/Other Christian	213	71.0
	Muslim	7	2.3
	No religion	14	4.7
Marital status	Single/Not married	5	1.7
	Married	287	95.7
	Cohabiting	1	.3
	Divorced	1	.3
	Separated	2	.7
	Widowed	4	1.3
Currently Living with Spouse	Yes	264	88.0
	No	36	12.0
Age difference with spouse	Younger than the spouse	15	5.1
	Same age	33	11.1
	1-5 Years older	116	39.2
	5+ Years Older	132	44.6
	N/A	4	
Spouse Education Level	Primary and below	183	61.0
L	Secondary	74	24.7
	Tertiary/ Post-secondary	43	14.3
Spouse employment status	Formal employment	31	10.3
1 1 2	Informal employment	61	20.3
	Not employed	208	69.3
Number of children	1-3	193	64.3
	3-4	57	19.0
	5 and above	50	16.7
Main source of income	Formal employment	56	18.7
	Informal employment	136	45.3
	Business/self employed	104	34.6
	Parental/Spousal support	4	1.3
Level of income	Below 5.000	94	31.3
	5,000 - 10,000	112	37.3
	11.000 - 20.000	41	13.7
	21.000 - 30.000	19	6.3
	31,000 and Above	34	11.3

Table 4.1: Distribution of respondents by socio-demographic characteristics

4.2 Proportion of male partners involved in antenatal care

Overall, 61% (n=183) males were involved in their spouses' antenatal care. Figure 4.1 gives a summary of the proportion of male partner involvement in ANC.



Figure 4.1: Proportion of male partner involvement in ANC

4.2.1 Distribution of male partner involvement

In regards to the distribution of male partner involvement in ANC in the four domains measured (based on the analyses of the 12 dimensions picked) positive responses ranged from 23.3% to 91.0% in twelve questions, with 91% ensuring that their spouses/wives had good nutrition while the least (23.3%) accompanied their wife/spouse to the hospital for their routine antenatal care (see Figure 4.2).



Figure 4.2: Distribution of male partner involvement in ANC

4.2.2 Male Involvement Domains

4.2.2.1 Physical Support

Of the 300 respondents, more than ³/₄ (88.7%) of them reported that their spouses attended ANC during the recent pregnancy. Of the 300 respondents, the majority (230) reported not to have accompanied their spouses for their routine ANC during the most recent pregnancy and only 70 of the respondents having done so. Among those who had accompanied their spouses, 15% accompanied them less than 3 visits while the least (8.4%) accompanied them for 3 visits or more. Motivation by the health care workers and the desire to have safe delivery were the main reasons given by the respondents for accompanying their spouses both accounting for 8.7%. More than half (66%) of the respondents reported that their spouses had attended ANC during the previous pregnancies, while 18% (n=54) did not attend. Only 26% (n=78) of the respondents reported to have accompanied their spouses for ANC during the previous pregnancies, while majority (40%) did not. At least 13% of male partner cited work commitments as the main reason for not accompanying their spouses. Of the 120 of respondents, 24 reported that they did not see it necessary to accompany their spouses (see Table 4.2).

Table 4.2: Physical support

Variable	Category	Frequency (N=300)	Percentage (%)
Wife attended clinic for antenatal (ANC)	Yes	266	88.7
check-ups when pregnant?	No	34	11.3
Accompanied wife to the hospital for the	Yes	70	23.3
routine antenatal care during the most	No	230	76.7
Number of ANC visits accompanied wife?	1	16	5.3
	2	29	9.7
	3	11	3.7
	4	12	4.0
	5	2	.7
	Not Applicable	230	76.7
Motivation behind accompanying wife for	For safe delivery	26	8.7
antenatal check-up during pregnancy?	For healthy child	10	3.3
	Free care	4	1.3
	Health facility nearby	12	4.0
	Good service	6	2.0
	Encouraged by family	1	.3
	Motivated by health care workers	26	8.7
	For monetary benefit	2	.7
Wife attended antenatal checkups during	Yes	198	66.0
all the previous pregnancies	No	55	18.3
	Not Applicable	47	15.7
Accompanied wife for ANC during all the	Yes	78	26.0
previous pregnancies?	No	120	40.0
	Not Applicable	102	34.0
Main reason for missing all/some of the visits?	Lack of or inadequate information	17	5.7
	Not available	7	2.3
	Did not feel like	14	4.7
	Work commitments	39	13.0
	from home	10	5.5
	I was scared	3	1.0
	I did not think it was necessary	24	8.0
	Not Applicable	180	60.0

4.2.2.2 Psychosocial Support

Of the 300 respondents, the majority, that is, 83.7% reported that they supported use of ANC by their spouse while the rest (16.3%) did not. In terms of encouragement of

their spouses to attend ANC, while majority (77%) of the respondents encouraged their spouses, 23% reported not to have done so. Consequently, 20.3% of the respondents did not approve their spouses going to ANC, while 79.7% approved. Slightly above average (62.3%) number of respondents identified the date of birth while the rest (37.7%) did not. Majority (63.7%) of the respondents identified the health facility where their spouses would deliver the baby. Noteworthy, 9 out of 10 respondents (91%) ensured their pregnant spouses had good nutrition while the least (9%) did not. Lastly, while majority of the respondents, that is, 3 out 4 (74.3%) identified the mode of transportation to the health facility, slightly over ¼ (25.7%) did not (see Table 4.3).

Variable	Category	Frequency (N=300)	Percentage (%)
Supported use of ANC by the spouse during the	Yes	251	83.7
most recent pregnancy?	No	49	16.3
Encouraged wife to attend antenatal clinic?	Yes	231	77.0
	No	69	23.0
Approved wife going to the ANC clinic?	Yes	239	79.7
	No	61	20.3
Identified the date of birth	Yes	187	62.3
	No	113	37.7
Identified a health facility where wife would	Yes	191	63.7
deliver the baby?	No	109	36.3
Ensured good nutrition for the wife?	Yes	273	91.0
	No	27	9.0
Identified a mode of transportation to the health	Yes	223	74.3
facility?	No	77	25.7

Table 4.3: Psychosocial support

4.2.2.3 Decision Making Support

Of the 300 respondents, the majority, that is, 43.7% of them reported that both partners should do the decision to make household purchases. However, 2/5 (40%) of the respondents reported that the husband should do the decision, while only 16.3% reported that it is the responsibility of the wife to make such decision. When it comes to deciding what to do with the money the wife earns, a significant percentage (61%) of the respondents reported that the decision should be made by both partners while

24% and 15% thought the decision lies in husband and wife respectively. Almost half of the respondents (45.7%) reported that they jointly decide with the wife how to spend the money the husband earns, 38% reported that they solely decide, while 16.3% reported that the decision is made by the wife solely. Only 7% of the respondents thought that the responsibility of deciding how many children to have and when to have them lies on the wife. A significant percentage (79%) reported that both husband and wife were responsible, while 15% thought it was the husband who should make that decision. More than half (195 out of 300) of the respondents reported to have discussed about ANC with their spouses during the most recent pregnancy, and for those who discussed ANC with their spouses only 39.3% of them decided to attend ANC as a couple while majority (45.7%) thought the wife should solely make the decision. The decision on the place of delivery was majorly (43.3%) made by the wife, while 11% of the respondents made that decision (see Table 4.4).

Table 4.4: Decision making support

Variable	Category	Frequency (N=300)	Percentage (%)
Making household purchases?	Husband	120	40.0
	Wife	49	16.3
	Both Equally	131	43.7
Deciding what to do with the money she	Husband	72	24.0
earns for her work?	Wife	45	15.0
	Both Equally	183	61.0
Deciding how the money you earn will be	Husband	114	38.0
used?	Wife	49	16.3
	Both Equally	137	45.7
Deciding how many children to have and	Husband	42	14.0
when?	Wife	21	7.0
	Both Equally	237	79.0
Discussed about ANC wife with during	Yes	195	65.0
the most recent pregnancy?	No	105	35.0
Decision to attend ANC?	Husband	10	3.3
	Wife	137	45.7
	Both Equally	118	39.3
	Relatives	4	1.3
	Not Applicable	31	10.3
Deciding the place of delivery?	Husband	33	11.0
	Wife	130	43.3
	Both Equally	129	43.0
	Relatives	8	2.7

4.2.2.4 Financial Support

Majority (78%) of the respondents reported to have provided money for transport to the clinic, clinic costs and medication related to antenatal care, while the rest (22%) did not. Notably 35% of the respondents did not save money for emergencies related to the pregnancy, 65% had made such savings (see Table 4.5).

Table 4.5: Level of financial support

Variable	Categor y	Frequency (N=300)	Percentage (%)
Provided money for clinic costs and medication	Yes	234	78.0
related to the antenatal clinic visit during the most	No	66	22.0
recent pregnancy?			
Provided money for transport to the clinic during	Yes	234	78.0
the most recent pregnancy?	No	66	22.0
Saved money for emergencies related to the	Yes	195	65.0
pregnancy?	No	105	35.0

4.3 Determinants of male partner involvement in ANC

4.3.1 Socio-cultural factors and Attitude

4.3.1.1 Socio-cultural factors

Of the 300 respondents, more than half (62.3%) of the respondents reported that it is not a bad omen in their community for a man to escort his pregnant wife to hospital for ANC checkups. However, slightly over 1 out of 3 (37%) reported that their friends would view them as "less men" if they accompanied their spouses to ANC visits. In terms of how their male friends viewed pregnancy and childbirth, majority (42.7%) of them agreed that their friends thought that this was entirely a woman's business. Only 6.3% of the respondents agreed that their religious beliefs affect their decisions on ANC, while majority (89.3%) disagreed. In terms of traditional and cultural beliefs, 18.4% of the respondents agreed that these affect the decisions men make concerning ANC (see Table 4.6).

Table 4.6: Socio-Cultural Norms

Items	Strongly	Agree	Neutral	Disagree	Strongly
	Agree				Disagree
Childbearing is a women's affair	63(21.0%)	73(24.3%)	19(6.3%)	73(24.3%)	72(24.0%)
and does not require the					
husband's participation	50(10 00()		14/4 50/>	01/07 00/)	
Antenatal care is women's	58(19.3%)	68(22.7%)	14(4.7%)	81(27.0%)	79(26.3%)
business and a man should not					
have to worry about it	40(16.20)	52(17.70)	57(10,00())	02(20,70())	40(16.20)
Fear of being tested for HIV	49(10.3%)	55(17.7%)	57(19.0%)	92(30.7%)	49(10.3%)
alinio					
Rad omen for men to escort their	21(7.0%)	54(18,0%)	38(12.70%)	88(20,3%)	00(33.0%)
pregnant women to hospital for	21(7.0%)	34(18.0%)	38(12.7%)	88(29.3%)	99(33.0%)
antenatal check ups					
Male friends think pregnancy and	38(12.7%)	90(30.0%)	48(16.0%)	63(21.0%)	61(20.3%)
child birth is women's business	30(12.770)	20(30.070)	40(10.070)	03(21.070)	01(20.370)
Viewed as less of a man if seen	36(12.0%)	75(25.0%)	34(11.3%)	104(34.7%)	51(17.0%)
escorting pregnant wife to	30(12.070)	10(20:070)	5 ((11.570)	101(21.770)	51(17.070)
hospital					
Religious beliefs affect decisions	12(4.0%)	7(2.3%)	13(4.3%)	153(51.0%)	115(38.3%)
on antenatal care	· · ·			· · · ·	· · · ·
Traditional and cultural beliefs in	23(7.7%)	32(10.7%)	39(13.0%)	101(33.7%)	105(35.0%)
community affect decision on					
antenatal care					

4.3.1.2 Attitude towards male involvement in ANC

Of the 300 respondents, 56.3% of them disagreed that pregnancy is a risky period for the mother's health, while the rest agreed (36%) or were neutral (7.7%). A significant percentage (81%) of the respondents agreed that antenatal checkup is important for a pregnant woman; however, slightly more than ³/₄ of them reported that when a woman is pregnant, it is her responsibility to go to the clinic. Regarding ANC interest, at least 64.3% of the respondents expressed their interest in knowing more about ANC and half (50.7%) of them acknowledged the awareness they had about ANC to have gotten it from healthcare providers. Only 33.4% of the respondent agreed that men should accompany their wives to the clinic when they are pregnant. More than half (56.3%) of the respondents noted that men feel embarrassed accompanying their wives to the antenatal clinic (see Table 4.7).

Items	Strongly	Agree	Neutral	Disagree	Strongly
	Agree	0		0	Disagree
Pregnancy is a risky period for	64(21.3%)	44(14.7%)	23(7.7%)	91(30.3%)	78(26.0%)
the mother's health					
It is important for a pregnant	111(37.0%)	132(44.0%)	38(12.7%)	17(5.7%)	2(0.7%)
woman to go for Antenatal					
check-up					
When a woman is pregnant, it	94(31.3%)	139(46.3%)	20(6.7%)	30(10.0%)	17(5.7%)
is her responsibility to go to					
the clinic (R)		100/1100/	=1 (22 =24)	2 2/0 2 2/0	
Interested in knowing more	60(20.0%)	133(44.3%)	71(23.7%)	28(9.3%)	8(2.7%)
about ANC	27(12,20)	00/22 70/)	26(12,00)	07/00 00/)	22/10 70/)
Men share the responsibility of	37(12.3%)	98(32.7%)	36(12.0%)	97(32.3%)	32(10.7%)
antenatal care with their wives	44/14 70/)	5(10,70)	$\mathbf{O}(\mathbf{C},\mathbf{T}(\mathbf{C}))$	107/25 70()	72(24.20()
Men should accompany their	44(14.7%)	56(18.7%)	20(6.7%)	10/(35.7%)	/3(24.3%)
are program					
Man faal ambamaaad	(7(22,200))	102(24.00/)	44(14 70/)	57(10.00())	20(10.00())
Men leel embarrassed	07(22.3%)	102(34.0%)	44(14.7%)	57(19.0%)	30(10.0%)
accompanying their wife to the					
antenatai cinnic (R)					

Whereas those who did not get involved had a high score of attitude, those who were involved had high scores of socio-cultural norms (see Table 4.8).

Table 4.8: Socio-cultural norms/ Attitude Scores

Measure	Male Invo	Т	d.f	sig.	
	No	Yes			
Negative socio-cultural norms score	22.5±5.9	30.3±6.6	-10.4	298	<0.001
Positive attitude score	25.3±4.9	18.3±4.7	12.3	298	<0.001

In multivariate analyses controlling for confounders, socio-cultural norms were found to positively influence male partner involvement, unlike attitude (see Table 4.9).

Parameter	Category	A.O.R	O.R 95% C.I.		Sig.
			Lower	Upper	_
Education level	Primary and Below	0.87	0.74	1.01	0.074
	Secondary	1.01	0.86	1.18	0.920
	Tertiary/Vocational	0.74	0.59	0.93	0.008
	College/University	Ref.			
Socio-Cultural Norms	Scores	1.02	1.01	1.02	<0.001
Attitude Score	Scores	0.97	0.96	0.98	<0.001
Age Difference	Younger than Wife	0.96	0.77	1.19	0.694
	Same Age	1.08	0.93	1.25	0.340
	1-5 Years Older	1.00	0.90	1.11	0.976
	5+ Years	Ref.			

Table 4.9: Multivariate analysis of attitude and socio-cultural norms

4.3.2 Health services' related factors

The mean distance to the nearest facility was 4.82 kilometers, with majority (48%) using motorcycle (taxi) to get there, while the least (2.7%) used bicycles as the means of transport. At least 2 out of 5 respondents (42.7%) reported that the nearest facility was a dispensary. The waiting period for majority (73%) was less than 3 hours before they were attended to, while only 2% reported a waiting period of more than 5 hours (see Table 4.10).

Table 4.10: Health services related factors

Variable	Category	Frequency	Percentage
		(N=300)	(%)
Distance to the nearest healthcare	≤2 kms	91	30.3
facility from the house	3-5 kms	111	37.0
	6≥ kms	98	32.7
Facility type	Dispensary	128	42.7
	Health Center	110	36.7
	Sub-County hospital	24	8.0
	County referral hospital	24	8.0
	Private clinic	14	4.7
Means of transportation	Walking	101	33.7
	Bicycle	8	2.7
	Motorcycle (Boda boda)	144	48
	Motorcycle (Own)	4	1.3
	Public transport (Matatu/Bus)	12	4
	Taxi	22	7.3
	Personal car	9	3

However, over a half (59.7%) of the respondents reported that service provision was slow and took long. At least 38.7% of the respondents said that the waiting bay that doubles up as a counseling space lacked privacy and was crowded with mothers and children (see Table 4.11).

Items (N= 119)	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly Agree
Service provision was slow and the waiting hours were long (R)	13(10.9%)	32(26.9%)	3(2.5%)	34(28.6%)	37(31.1%)
The waiting bay and counseling space lacked privacy and was crowded with mothers and children (R)	14(11.8%)	57(47.9%)	2(1.7%)	36(30.3%)	10(8.4%)
Service providers were rude and unfriendly (R)	9(7.6%)	15(12.6%)	6(5.0%)	49(41.2%)	40(33.6%)
Offered sufficient consultation time and received sufficient information	2(1.7%)	15(12.6%)	6(5.0%)	64(53.8%)	32(26.9%)
Given the opportunity to ask questions and clarify doubts during consultation	4(3.4%)	16(13.4%)	15(12.6%)	40(33.6%)	44(37.0%)
Opinions were taken into consideration	2(1.7%)	19(16.0%)	21(17.6%)	50(42.0%)	27(22.7%)
Treated respectfully and did not feel judged by staff	7(5.9%)	15(12.6%)	10(8.4%)	60(50.4%)	27(22.7%)
Given priority because of accompanying wife	24(20.2%)	37(31.1%)	19(16.0%)	29(24.4%)	10(8.4%)
The motive for visit addressed and the medical care we received was satisfactory	4(3.4%)	8(6.7%)	13(10.9%)	59(49.6%)	35(29.4%)

Table 4.11: Health services related factors associated with male partner involvement

Note (R)-Reverse coded

Respondents who had high health services related score were likely to be involved compared to those who scored less (see table 4.12).

Table 4.12: Health services related score

Measure	Male Invo	lvement	Т	d.f	sig.
	No	Yes			
Health system Score	28.3±8.1	32.5±7.6	-2.3	117	0.031
Distance to the nearest Health care Facility	4.9 ± 3.6	4.8 ± 3.4	0.4	298	0.681

There was a statistically significant association between means of transport to the facility and male partner involvement (P<0.001). There was also a statistically significant association between type of facility and male partner involvement (p<0.05) (see table 4.13).

Table 4.13: Health Services Related Factors Multivariate Analyses

Variable	Category	Involv	vement	χ^2	d.f	р-
		No	Yes		•	value
Distance from	<2 Km	34(37.4%)	57(62.6%)	0.147	1	0.701
the health facility	>2Km	83(39.7%)	126(60.3%)			
Facility Type	Dispensary	53(41.4%)	75(58.6%)	9.53	4	0.049
	Health center	45(40.9%)	65(59.1%)			
	Sub county hospital	9(37.5%)	15(62.5%)			
	County referral hospital	10(41.7%)	14(58.3%)			
	Private clinic	0(0.0%)	14(100.0%)			
Transport	Uses transport means	61(30.7%)	138(69.3%)	17.31	1	<0.001
means to the health facility	Walking	56(55.4%)	45(44.6%)			

4.3.3 Male partners' ANC Awareness

Almost all (93.3%) the respondents had heard about ANC with only 1 out of 15 reporting not to have heard about ANC (Figure 4.3)



Figure 4.3: Heard of ANC

ANC package awareness was distributed as follows among the respondents: blood screening for hepatitis B infection (24%), blood screening for HIV infection (69%), blood screening for hemoglobin level (39%), blood pressure measurement (68%), blood sugar testing (32.3%) and weight monitoring (72.3%). see Figure 4.4

Figure 4. 1: Awareness of ANC package



Figure 4.4: Heard of ANC

Only 14.7% of the respondents were aware of all items that included in an ANC package. Majority (46%) were aware of only 3-5 items in the ANC package while 39.3% knew only 2 items and below in the ANC package (see figure 4.5).



Figure 4.5: Level of awareness of ANC package

Results of bivariate analyses indicate that there was a significant relationship between respondent's level of awareness of (all items or 3 to 5) items in the ANC package and being involved (p<.001) (see Table 4.14).

ANC Package	Respose	Not Involved	Involved	O.R(95% C.I)	Sig.
Blood screening for	No	105(46.1%)	123(53.9%)	Ref.	
hepatitis B infection	Yes	12(16.7%)	60(83.3%)	4.3(2.2-8.4)	<0.00
Blood screening for	No	60(64.5%)	33(35.5%)	Ref.	
HIV infection	Yes	57(27.5%)	150(72.5%)	4.8(2.8-8.1)	<0.00
Blood screening for	No	93(50.8%)	90(49.2%)	Ref.	
hemoglobin level	Yes	24(20.5%)	93(79.5%)	4.0(2.3-6.8)	<0.00
Blood pressure	No	61(63.5%)	35(36.5%)	Ref.	
measurement	Yes	56(27.5%)	148(72.5%)	4.6(2.7-7.7)	<0.00
Blood sugar testing	No	96(47.3%)	107(52.7%)	Ref.	
	Yes	21(21.6%)	76(78.4%)	3.2(1.9-5.7)	<0.00
Weight	No	60(72.3%)	23(27.7%)	Ref.	
measurement requirement	Yes	57(26.3%)	160(73.7%)	7.3(4.2-12.9)	<0.00
ANC Package	All Items	7(15.9%)	37(84.1%)	9.2(3.8-22.5)	<0.00
	3-5 Items	35(25.4%)	103(74.6%)	5.1(3.0-8.8)	<0.00
	2 and Below	75(63.6%)	43(36.4%)	Ref.	

Table 4.14: Bivariate analyses on ANC package awareness

On the awareness of danger signs in pregnancy, at least 73.3% were not aware of the danger signs with only 26.7% reporting to have such awareness (see Figure 4.6).



Figure 4.6: Awareness of danger signs

The responses for danger signs awareness among the respondents were distributed as follows: pain in the abdomen (19.3%), vaginal bleeding/discharge (13.7%), weak or no movement of baby (9.7%), convulsion (7.3%), excessive vomiting (5%), persistent swelling of limbs (4.3%) and visual disturbance (0%). Figure 4.7 gives a summary of danger signs awareness.



Figure 4.7: Danger signs awareness

The respondents who were aware of: persistent swelling of limbs, vaginal bleeding/discharge, convulsion, weak or no movement of baby and pain in the abdomen as danger signs during pregnancy were more likely to be involved compared to those who lacked such awareness (see Table 4.15).

 Table 4.15: Danger signs awareness association with involvement

Danger Sign	Response	Not Involved	Involved	O.R(95% C.I)	Sig.
Excessive vomiting	No	115(40.4%)	170(59.6%)	Ref.	
	Yes	2(13.3%)	13(86.7%)	4.4(1.0-19.9)	0.054
Persistent swelling of limbs	No	116(40.4%)	171(59.6%)	Ref.	
	Yes	1(7.7%)	12(92.3%)	8.1(1.0-63.5)	0.045
Vaginal bleeding/discharge	No	109(42.1%)	150(57.9%)	Ref.	
	Yes	8(19.5%)	33(80.5%)	3.0(1.3-6.7)	0.008
Convulsion	No	115(41.4%)	163(58.6%)	Ref.	
	Yes	2(9.1%)	20(90.9%)	7.1(1.6-30.8)	0.009
Weak or no movement of baby	No	112(41.3%)	159(58.7%)	Ref.	
	Yes	5(17.2%)	24(82.8%)	3.4(1.3-9.1)	0.016
Pain abdomen	No	105(43.4%)	137(56.6%)	Ref.	
	Yes	12(20.7%)	46(79.3%)	2.9(1.5-5.8)	0.002

In regards to the options the respondents gave incase their wives/spouses got any problem during pregnancy, majority (93%) would report to health center while the least (1%) would ignore the problem. The rest would do home remedy (4.7%) or self-medication (1.3%) (see Table 4.16).

Table 4.16: Responding to pregnancy related emergencies

Parameter	Category	Frequency (N=300)	Proportion (%)
If your wife got any	Report to Health center	279	93.0
problem during her	Home remedy	14	4.7
pregnancy, what would	Self-medication	4	1.3
you do:-	Ignore it	3	1.0

4.4 Bivariate analyses of factors associated with male involvement.

On bivariate analyses of the factors associated with male involvement in antenatal care for their spouse/wife, participants who were aged between 18-24 years were less involved as compared to those aged 45+ years (P<0.05). Respondents with primary level of education and below were less involved as compared to those with tertiary/post-secondary education (P<0.05). Respondents with informal employment were more involved as compared to those who were unemployed (P<0.05). Respondents with less than 4 children were more involved as compared to those with 5+ children (P<0.05). Participants who did not have awareness of the minimum number of ANC visits, those who were not aware of danger signs of pregnancy and those who their spouses had unplanned pregnancy were less involved (P<0.05). Participants who didn't. Respondents who earned less than 30,000ksh a month and those who make decision alone of the money earned were less involved (P<0.05) (see Table 4.17).

Variable	Category	Male Involvement		O.R. (95% C.I.)	Sig.
		No (n-117:39.0%)	Yes $(n-183: 61.0\%)$		
Age	15-24 Years	$\frac{(n-117, 39.070)}{11(64.7\%)}$	6(35.3%)	0.29(0.09-0.91)	0.034
nge	25-34 Years	39(38.6%)	62(61.4%)	0.22(0.0200.0000.0000000000000000000000	0.628
	35-44 Years	49(37.7%)	81(62.3%)	0.88(0.45-1.71)	0.628
	45+	18(34.6%)	34(65.4%)	Ref	0.070
Age	Younger	6(40.0%)	9(60.0%)	0.98(0.33-2.90)	0 964
difference	than spouse	0(40.070))(00.070)	0.90(0.35 2.90)	0.704
uniterence	Same Age	13(39.4%)	20(60.6%)	1 00(0 46-2 18)	1 000
	1-5 Years	43(37.1%)	73(62.9%)	1 10(0 66-1 84)	0 707
	Older	13(371170)	15(02.570)	1.10(0.00 1.01)	0.707
	6+ Years	52(39.4%)	80(60.6%)	Ref.	
	older	02(0).170)	00(00.070)	iter.	
Education	Primary and	82(52,2%)	75(47.8%)	0 28(0 14-0 58)	0.001
Level	Relow	02(02.270)	75(17.070)	0.20(0.11 0.50)	0.001
Lever	Secondary	23(25.0%)	69(75.0%)	0.92(0.41-2.06)	0 845
	Tertiary/	12(23.5%)	39(76.5%)	Ref	0.015
	Post-	12(23.370)	5)(10.570)	Rei.	
	secondary				
Currently	Yes	100(37.9%)	164(62,1%)	1 47(0 73-2 95)	0 283
Living with	No	17(47.2%)	19(52.8%)	Ref	0.205
Wife	110	17(47.270)	1)(52.070)	Rei.	
Wife's	Formal	2(6.5%)	29(93.5%)	11.73(2.73-50.43)	0.001
Employmen	Fmployment	2(0.570)	2)()3.370)	11.75(2.75-50.45)	0.001
t status	Informal	22(36.1%)	39(63.9%)	1 43(0 79-2 59)	0.231
t status	Employment	22(30.170)	57(05.770)	1.45(0.77 2.57)	0.231
	Not	93(44.7%)	115(55.3%)	Ref	
	Employed	JJ(++.170)	115(55.570)	Rei.	
Number of	1-2	69(35.8%)	124(64.2%)	2 93(1 54-5 57)	0.001
children	3-4	17(29.8%)	40(70.2%)	3.84(1.72-8.59)	0.001
ennaren	5 and Above	31(62.0%)	19(38.0%)	Ref	0.001
Awareness	No	101(50.5%)	99(49.5%)	0 19(0 10-0 34)	<0.001
of the	Yes	16(16.0%)	84(84.0%)	Ref	10.001
minimum	105	10(10.070)	01(01:070)	101.	
required					
number of					
ANC Visits					
Aware of	No	100(45.5%)	120(54 5%)	0 32(0 18-0 59)	<0.001
danger signs	Yes	17(21.3%)	63(78.8%)	Ref	
of	105	17(21.570)	05(70.070)	iter.	
pregnancy					
Pregnancy	No	56(70.9%)	23(29.1%)	0.16(0.09-0.28)	<0.001
Planned	Yes	61(27.6%)	160(72.4%)	Ref	10.001
Went to	Yes	54(27.3%)	144(72.7%)	4 31(2 59-7 15)	<0.001
ANC during	No	63(61.8%)	39(38.2%)	Ref	\0.001
nrevious	110	05(01.070)	57(50.270)	Kei.	
pregnancies					
Level of	Below 5 000	51(54.3%)	43(45 7%)	0 08(0 02-0 29)	<0.001
income	5 000 -	46(41.1%)		0.00(0.02 - 0.29) 0.14(0.04 - 0.48)	0.001
meonie	10,000 -	1.170)	00(30.270)	0.17(0.07-0.70)	0.004
	11,000 -	14(3/ 1%)	27(65.9%)	0 19(0 05-0 72)	0.015
	20,000 -	1+(J+.170)	27(03.770)	0.19(0.03 - 0.12)	0.013
	20,000 -	3(15.8%)	16(84.2%)	0 52(0 09-2 85)	0.448
	30,000	5(15.070)	10(0+.270)	0.52(0.07-2.05)	0.440

Table 4.17: Bivariate analyses of factors associated with male involvement

Variable	Category	Male Inv	volvement	O.R. (95% C.I.)	Sig.
	Above	3(8.8%)	31(91.2%)	Ref.	
	30,000				
Decision on	Respondent	63(55.3%)	51(44.7%)	0.28(0.16-0.47)	<0.001
Money	Wife	19(38.8%)	30(61.2%)	0.54(0.27-1.08)	0.082
earned	Respondent	35(25.5%)	102(74.5%)	Ref.	
	and wife				
Source of	Mass/Print	17(36.2%)	30(63.8%)	3.12(1.26-7.71)	0.014
information	Media				
about ANC	Partner/Wife	42(64.6%)	23(35.4%)	0.97(0.41-2.26)	0.942
	Health care	35(23.0%)	117(77.0%)	5.91(2.72-12.87)	< 0.001
	Providers				
	Discussion	23(63.9%)	13(36.1%)	Ref.	
	with people				
Provider	Positive	59(33.7%)	116(66.3%)	1.86(0.89-3.87)	0.098
Attitude	Negative	41(45.6%)	49(54.4%)	1.13(0.52-2.47)	0.762
	Not	17(48.6%)	18(51.4%)	Ref.	
	applicable				

4.5 Independent predictors of male partner involvement

The odds of involvement in respondents who were aged 18-24 years was 0.22 times less as compared to those aged 45+ years *AOR* 0.22 (0.05, 1.002). Respondents with 1-2 children and 3-4 children were about 4 and 5 times more involved *AOR* 4.34 (1.61, 11.66), *AOR* 4.77 (1.56, 14.53) respectively as compared to those aged 5 and above.

The odds of male involvement among respondents who did not have awareness of the minimum number of ANC visits was 0.35 less involved ($AOR \ 0.35 \ (0.16, \ 0.78)$)) as compared to those with who have that awareness. The odds of male involvement among respondents who their spouses had unplanned pregnancy was 0.21 times less involved ($AOR \ 0.21 \ (0.10, \ 0.45)$). Respondents whose spouses/wives went for ANC during previous pregnancies were about 5 times more involved ($AOR \ 4.85 \ (2.34, 10.07)$) as compared to those who did not.

Respondents who make decision about money earned alone and those whose wives/ spouse makes decision alone were about 0.42 ($AOR \ 0.42 \ (0.20, \ 0.86)$) and 0.37 ($AOR \ 0.37 \ (0.14, \ 0.98)$) respectively, less involved as compared to respondents who make the decision jointly (see Table 4.18).

Variable	Category A.O. R		95% C.	Sig.	
			Lower	Upper	
Age	18-24 Years	0.22	0.05	1.00	0.049
C	25-34 Years	0.40	0.14	1.12	0.080
	35-44 Years	0.41	0.15	1.07	0.068
	45+				
Education Level	Primary and below	0.85	0.29	2.54	0.775
	Secondary	1.45	0.45	4.65	0.534
	Tertiary/ Post- secondary	Ref.			
Wife's Employment status	Formal	3.47	0.55	22.00	0.188
	Employment				
	Informal	0.82	0.35	1.93	0.648
	Employment				
	Not Employed	Ref.			
Number of children	3	4.34	1.61	11.66	0.004
	4	4.77	1.56	14.53	0.006
	5 and above	Ref.			
Awareness of the minimum	No	0.35	0.16	0.78	0.010
required number of ANC Visits	Yes	Ref.			
Aware of danger signs of	No	0.55	0.24	1.24	0.149
pregnancy	Yes	Ref.			
Pregnancy Planned	No	0.21	0.10	0.45	<0.00
	Yes	Ref.			
Went to ANC during	Yes	4.85	2.34	10.07	<0.00
previous pregnancies	No	Ref.			
Level of income	Below 5,000	0.55	0.10	2.95	0.482
	5,000 - 10,000	0.43	0.09	2.17	0.307
	11,000 - 20,000	0.53	0.10	2.81	0.459
	21,000 - 30,000	0.96	0.12	7.79	0.967
	Above 30.000	Ref.			
Decision on Money earned	Respondent	0.42	0.20	0.86	0.017
	Wife	0.37	0.14	0.98	0.045
	Respondent and wife	Ref.			
Source of information about	Mass/Print Media	1.77	0.54	5.79	0.347
ANC	Partner/Wife	1.09	0.38	3.14	0.869
	Health care Providers	2.28	0.83	6.31	0.112
	Discussion with people	Ref.			

Table 4.18: Independent Predictors of Male Involvement

CHAPTER FIVE

DISCUSSION, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Discussion

5.1.1 Socio-demographic characteristics

In line with other studies in the region (Ditekemena *et al.*, 2012; Kariuki & Seruwagi, 2016), our findings show that age was significantly associated with male involvement, with younger men less than 24 years being the least likely to be involved, compared to those aged 45 years and above. This could be because younger men often exhibit lesser responsibility that comes with age. In addition, participants who had less than 4 children demonstrated higher likelihood of involvement compared to those with 5 or more children. In contrast, in a study in Tanzania, Gibore *et al.* (2019) found that having more than 4 children was significantly associated with male involvement in maternity care which was attributed to: fertility preferences, concern over mother's health, and familiarity with the health system. There is likelihood that similar factors influenced the involvement of men with less than 4 children in the present study.

The findings of this study also show that respondents with primary level of education and below are less involved as compared to those with tertiary/post-secondary education. This finding was in contrast with those of studies by Matiang'i *et al.* (2013) and Worku *et al.* (2020) who found that level of education does not influence male partner involvement.

5.1.2 Proportion of Male Partner Involvement

Findings from this study show that 61% of men supported their spouses to access ANC services. These results are consistent with previous studies in Uganda and Western Kenya where the proportion of male involvement was 77.8% and 55.8%, respectively (Alupo *et al.*, 2020; Natai *et al.*, 2020; Ongolly & Bukachi, 2019). However, this study reported almost double the levels of male involvement than those documented in other studies conducted in Nairobi, Kenya (26.2%), Ethiopia

29.8% and Ghana (35%) (Aluisio *et al.*, 2016; Ayalew *et al.*, 2020; Robert Craymah *et al.*, 2017). More importantly, the results of the present study showed that while men provided immense financial and psychosocial support, less than half provided decision-making support and less than a quarter provided physical support. These findings suggest that men prefer providing passive support as opposed to direct support. This could be attributed to social, cultural and health system barriers. Our observation is affirmed by reports of studies in SSA, that indicate hegemonic masculinity and the social construction of pregnancy as a female enterprise that largely contributes towards the propensity for men to prefer providing passive support (Maluka & Peneza, 2018; Matseke *et al.*, 2017; Mbadugha *et al.*, 2019; Ongolly & Bukachi, 2019; Singh *et al.*, 2016; Vermeulen *et al.*, 2016).

The findings of the present study also show that men whose spouses had planned pregnancies were more likely to be involved compared to those who had unplanned pregnancy. The findings suggest that men portray a greater sense of responsibility when a pregnancy is accepted by the couple as affirmed by a study in Kenya (Githae, 2018). However, this is contrasted by a study in Uganda where the likelihood of involvement was higher for unplanned pregnancies (Kariuki & Seruwagi, 2016).

5.1.3 Socio-cultural factors

Findings in this study indicate that cultural factors can have an impact on male partner involvement. These cultural factors include among others: community viewing men accompanying their spouses for ANC as a bad omen; childbearing being viewed as a women affair only by the community and that men should not worry about it; community viewing men as weaklings if seen accompanying their spouses to ANC. This implies that, a man would not want to be seen accompanying his wife to ANC because he fears being viewed as less of a man by his friends. The finding is similar to those Ongolly & Bukachi (2019) found in their study in Western Kenya where men reported that their culture and the view that pregnancy is a woman's affair had hindered them from being actively involved especially when it came to physical support.

5.1.4 Health services' related factors

A previous study indicated that the distance to the nearest health facility is significantly associated with male partner involvement (Robert Craymah *et al.*, 2017). However, findings of the present study show that there was no association between the distance to the nearest health facility and male partner involvement. This may imply that male partner involvement is not influenced by geographical accessibility of ANC services. Importantly geographical accessibility (the actual distance covered to and from health facilities) has been a determinant of health services utilization (Al-Taiar *et al.*, 2010).

In addition, the findings in this study show that respondents who had high health service system scores were more involved than those who scored less. This is consistent with previous study findings where unfavourable clinic experiences such as long waiting hours, crowded waiting spaces, and harsh treatment by health providers were found to discourage male involvement (Ditekemena *et al.*, 2012; Falade-Fatila & Adebayo, 2020).

The findings also indicate that respondents whose spouses/wives went for ANC during previous pregnancies were more likely to be involved compared to those who had not. These findings suggest that men appreciated the need to support their wives based on counselling and experience from previous ANC interactions (Githae, 2018), but it is also likely that they had a positive experience with the health system that motivated them (Murahwa *et al.*, 2015). Further, it is plausible to suggest that high awareness of ANC could have played a role in male involvement.

5.1.5 Antenatal care awareness in relation to male involvement

In the current study, awareness of the minimum number of ANC visits and danger signs during pregnancy was found to be associated with male involvement. These findings suggest that an understanding of the risks, benefits and roles that men can play is critical for their involvement, and is consistent with those of other studies which found significant association between knowledge of ANC as well as awareness of danger signs and male involvement (Falade-Fatila & Adebayo, 2020; Gize *et al.*, 2019; Kabanga *et al.*, 2019; Worku *et al.*, 2020).

In addition, communication between the couples especially the female partner briefing the male partner about ANC requirements may have played a role because participants who made joint decisions about finances were more likely to be involved compared to those who (or their wives) made the decision unilaterally. It is therefore plausible to state that joint decision making meant spouses had good communication that made it easier to discuss and prioritize ANC. The finding is consistent with a study which reported that positive interpersonal relationships lead to equitable decision making (Al-Mujtaba *et al.*, 2020), and conversely poor communication contributes to lack of male involvement (Jabeen *et al.*, 2017).

5.2 Conclusions

- This study has filled the gap in establishing the proportion of male partners involved in ANC and factors that determine their involvement. It has demonstrated that more than half of the participants reported involvement in ANC services. Participants were primarily involved in providing passive support, that is, financial and psychosocial support, while decision making and physical support was generally low. However, 39% of men are not involved in ANC and this can have a negative impact on maternal outcomes.
- Moreover, lack of ANC awareness among male partners contributes to their less involvement. This is especially lack of awareness on the danger signs during pregnancy, the antenatal profile and the required minimum number of ANC visits.
- The study has also established that cultural norms and taboos hinder men from ANC involvement as pregnancy is viewed as a women affair and men getting involved are viewed as weaklings by peers and therefore the need to address these.
- Finally, unfavorable conditions in the clinics for instance, lack of privacy in the ANC, long waiting time hinder male involvement.

5.3 Recommendations

The researcher therefore recommends the following:

- 3 The County Health Management team should devise ways of equipping men with ANC knowledge especially creating awareness on the danger signs during pregnancy, the antenatal profile and the required minimum number of ANC visits.
- 4 Cultural and religious institutions to create awareness among men to allay any fears associated with culture that may hinder men from getting involved is pivotal.
- 5 The County Health Management team should ensure that health care facilities provide privacy and short waiting periods in ANC clinics for men willing to accompany their spouses to seek for such services
- 6 Future research on a larger sample with diverse cultural background to establish predictors of male partner of involvement in ANC is recommended

REFERENCES

- Al-Mujtaba, M., Sam-Agudu, N. A., Torbunde, N., Aliyu, M. H., & Cornelius, L. J. (2020). Access to maternal-child health and HIV services for women in North-Central Nigeria: A qualitative exploration of the male partner perspective. *PLoS ONE*, 15(12), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0243611
- Al-Taiar, A., Clark, A., Longenecker, J. C., & Whitty, C. J. M. (2010). Physical accessibility and utilization of health services in Yemen. *International Journal* of Health Geographics, 9(1), 1–8.
- Aluisio, A. R., Bosire, R., Betz, B., Gatuguta, A., Kiarie, J. N., Nduati, R., John-Stewart, G., & Farquhar, C. (2016). Male partner participation in antenatal clinic services is associated with improved HIV-free survival among infants in Nairobi, Kenya: a prospective cohort study. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes (1999)*, 73(2), 169.
- Alupo, P., Atim, E. R., Kaggwa, H., Mudondo, C., Ogallo, C., Ogwang, J., Wanume,
 B., Nekaka, R., & Nteziyaremye, J. (2020). Male Partner Involvement In The Utilization Of Antenatal Care Services In Kidera, Buyende District, Uganda: Cross Sectional Mixed Methods Study.
- Amano, A., & Musa, A. (2016). Male involvement in PMTCT and associated factors among men whom their wives had ANC visit 12 months prior to the study in Gondar town, North west Ethiopia, December, 2014. Pan African Medical Journal, 24(1).
- Ampt, F., Mon, M. M., Than, K. K., Khin, M. M., Agius, P. A., Morgan, C., Davis, J., & Luchters, S. (2015). Correlates of male involvement in maternal and newborn health: a cross-sectional study of men in a peri-urban region of Myanmar. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 15(1), 1–11.
- Asefa, F., Geleto, A., & Dessie, Y. (2014). Male partners involvement in maternal ANC Care: The View of women attending ANC in hararipublic health institutions, Eastern Ethiopia. *Science Journal of Public Health*, 2(3), 182–188.

- Ayalew, M., Gebrie, M., Geja, E., & Beyene, B. (2020). Determinants of male partner involvement towards prevention of mother to child transmission service utilization among pregnant women who attended focused antenatal care in Southern Ethiopia. *HIV/AIDS - Research and Palliative Care*, *12*, 87–95. https://doi.org/10.2147/HIV.S233786
- Bhatta, D. N. (2013). Involvement of males in antenatal care, birth preparedness, exclusive breast feeding and immunizations for children in Kathmandu, Nepal. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 13(1), 1–7.
- Bond, M. J. (2010). The missing link in MCH: paternal involvement in pregnancy outcomes. In *American journal of men's health* (Vol. 4, Issue 4, pp. 285–286). SAGE Publications Sage CA: Los Angeles, CA.
- Chibwae, A., Kapesa, A., Jahanpour, O., Seni, J., Namanya, B., Kadelya, E., Konje, E., Nyanza, E. C., Ngallaba, S., & Dewey, D. (2018). Attendance of male partners to different reproductive health services in Shinyanga district, north western Tanzania. *Tanzania Journal of Health Research*, 20(2). https://doi.org/10.4314/thrb.v20i2.9
- Ditekemena, J., Koole, O., & Colebunders, R. (2012). Determinants of male involvement in maternal and child health services in sub-Saharan Africa: a review Introduction Methods Participants, interventions and outcome. *Reproductive Health*, 9(32), 1–8.
- Falade-Fatila, O., & Adebayo, A. M. (2020). Male partners' involvement in pregnancy related care among married men in Ibadan, Nigeria. *Reproductive Health*, 17(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12978-020-0850-2
- Gibore, N. S., Ezekiel, M. J., Meremo, A., Munyogwa, M. J., & Kibusi, S. M. (2019). Determinants of men's involvement in maternity care in dodoma region, central Tanzania. *Journal of Pregnancy*, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1155/ 2019/7637124

Githae, M. N. (2018). Male involvement in antenatal care redefined: A cross-

sectional survey of married men in Lang ' ata district, Kenya. October. https://doi.org/10.12968/ajmw.2013.7.3.117

- Gize, A., Eyassu, A., Nigatu, B., Eshete, M., & Wendwessen, N. (2019). Men's knowledge and involvement on obstetric danger signs, birth preparedness and complication readiness in Burayu town, Oromia region, Ethiopia. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 19(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-019-2661-4
- Gracia, P. (2014). Fathers' child care involvement and children's age in Spain: A time use study on differences by education and mothers' employment. *European Sociological Review*, 30(2), 137–150.
- Jabeen, N., Baloch, R., Malhi, P., Zahiruddin, S., & Mawani, K. (2017). Foetomaternal outcome in instrumental vaginal delivery attending a secondary hospital in Hyderabad (Aga Khan Maternal and Child Care Centre). *Journal of Pakistan Medical Association*, 67(12), 1833.
- Kabakyenga, J. K., Östergren, P.-O., Turyakira, E., & Pettersson, K. O. (2012). Influence of birth preparedness, decision-making on location of birth and assistance by skilled birth attendants among women in south-western Uganda. *PloS One*, 7(4), e35747.
- Kabanga, E., Chibwae, A., Basinda, N., & Morona, D. (2019). Prevalence of male partners involvement in antenatal care visits–in Kyela district, Mbeya. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth, 19(1), 1–6.
- Kalembo, F. W., Zgambo, M., Mulaga, A. N., Yukai, D., & Ahmed, N. I. (2013). Association between male partner involvement and the uptake of prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV (PMTCT) interventions in Mwanza district, Malawi: a retrospective cohort study. *PloS One*, 8(6), e66517.
- Kariuki, K. F., & Seruwagi, G. K. (2016). Determinants of Male Partner Involvement in Antenatal Care in Wakiso District, Uganda. 18(7), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.9734/BJMMR/2016/28056

- KNBS. (2015). *Kenya Demographic Health Survey 2014*. https://dhsprogram.com/ pubs/pdf/fr308/fr308
- Levin, K. A. (2006). Study design III: Cross-sectional studies. *Evidence-Based Dentistry*, 7(1), 24–25.
- Ltm, R. D. (2006). An R package for latent variable modeling and item response theory analyses. *J Stat Softw*, 17(5), 1–25.
- Mackert, M., Guadagno, M., Donovan, E., & Whitten, P. (2015). Including men in prenatal health: the potential of e-health to improve birth outcomes. *Telemedicine and E-Health*, 21(3), 207–212.
- Magis, D., Beland, S., Raiche, G., & Magis, M. D. (2020). Package 'difR.'
- Mair, P., & Hatzinger, R. (2007). *Extended Rasch modeling: The eRm package for the application of IRT models in R.*
- Maluka, S. O., & Peneza, A. K. (2018). Perceptions on male involvement in pregnancy and childbirth in Masasi District, Tanzania: A qualitative study. *Reproductive Health*, 15(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12978-018-0512-9
- Matiang'i, M., Mojola, A., & Githae, M. (2013). Male involvement in antenatal care redefined: a cross-sectional survey of married men in Lang'ata district, Kenya. *African Journal of Midwifery and Women's Health*, 7(3), 117–122.
- Matseke, M. G., Ruiter, R. A. C., Rodriguez, V. J., Peltzer, K., Setswe, G., & Sifunda, S. (2017). Factors associated with male partner involvement in programs for the prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV in rural South Africa. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 14(11), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14111333
- Mbadugha, C., Anetekhai, C., Obiekwu, A., Okonkwo, I., & Ingwu, J. (2019). Adult male involvement in maternity care in Enugu State, Nigeria: A cross-sectional study. *European Journal of Midwifery*, 3(September), 1–7. https://doi.org/

10.18332/ejm/112258

- Mgawadere, F., Unkels, R., Kazembe, A., & van den Broek, N. (2017). Factors associated with maternal mortality in Malawi: Application of the three delays model. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, *17*(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12884-017-1406-5
- Mwilike, B., Nalwadda, G., Kagawa, M., Malima, K., Mselle, L., & Horiuchi, S. (2018). Knowledge of danger signs during pregnancy and subsequent healthcare seeking actions among women in Urban Tanzania: A cross-sectional study. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 18(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-017-1628-6
- Nanjala, M., & Wamalwa, D. (2012). Determinants of male partner involvement in promoting deliveries by skilled attendants in Busia, Kenya. *Global Journal of Health Science*, 4(2), 60.
- Natai, C. C., Gervas, N., Sikira, F. M., Leyaro, B. J., Mfanga, J., Yussuf, M. H., & Msuya, S. E. (2020). Association between male involvement during antenatal care and use of maternal health services in Mwanza City, Northwestern Tanzania: A cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open*, 10(9). https://doi.org/10.1136/ bmjopen-2019-036211
- Nkuoh, N., Meyer, J., & Nshom, M. (2013). Women's attitudes toward their partners' involvement in antenatal care and prevention of Mother-to-child transmission of HIV in Cameroon. *Africa Journal of Midwifery & Women's Health*, 58(1), 83–91.
- Ongolly, F. K., & Bukachi, S. A. (2019). Barriers to men's involvement in antenatal and postnatal care in Butula, western Kenya. *African Journal of Primary Health Care & Family Medicine*, 11(1), 1–7.
- Peneza, A. K., & Maluka, S. O. (2018). 'Unless you come with your partner you will be sent back home': strategies used to promote male involvement in antenatal care in Southern Tanzania. *Global Health Action*, 11(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/

16549716.2018.1449724

- Robert Craymah, J. P., Oppong, K., & Tuoyire, D. A. (2017). male involvement in maternal health care Anamabo. *International Journal OfReproductive Medicine Months*, 2017.
- Rosner, Bernard, H. U. (2010). Fundamentals of Biostatistics. In *Fundamentals of biostatistics*. (Vol. 7). https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.59.7.1266-a
- S. Murahwa, P.T. Mafaune, Chideme-Munodawafa, E.M Chadambuka, E. Chikaka, M. Mukuzunga, A., & Anp, M. R. (2015). Citation: Chideme, A.M., et al. Deter-minants of Male Uptake of Antenatal Care (ANC) services in Mutare City. J Gynecol Neonatal Biol /, 3(2), 49–62.
- Sageer, R., Kongnyuy, E., Adebimpe, W. O., Omosehin, O., Ogunsola, E. A., & Sanni, B. (2019). Causes and contributory factors of maternal mortality: Evidence from maternal and perinatal death surveillance and response in Ogun state, Southwest Nigeria. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 19(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-019-2202-1
- Shah, B., Krishnan, N., Kodish, S. R., Yenokyan, G., Fatema, K., Burhan Uddin, K., Rahman, A. K. M. F., & Razzak, J. (2020). Applying the Three Delays Model to understand emergency care seeking and delivery in rural Bangladesh: A qualitative study. *BMJ Open*, 10(12). https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-042690
- Shahjahan, M., Mumu, S. J., Afroz, A., Chowdhury, H. A., Kabir, R., & Ahmed, K. (2013). Determinants of male participation in reproductive healthcare services: a cross-sectional study. *Reproductive Health*, 10(1), 1–6.
- Singh, D., Lample, M., Earnest, J., Vermeulen, E., Solnes Miltenburg, A., Barras, J., Maselle, N., van Elteren, M., & van Roosmalen, J. (2016). Opportunities for male involvement during pregnancy in Magu district, rural Tanzania. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 16(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-016-0853-8

- Sk, M. I. K., Paswan, B., Anand, A., & Mondal, N. A. (2019). Praying until death: Revisiting three delays model to contextualize the socio-cultural factors associated with maternal deaths in a region with high prevalence of eclampsia in India. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 19(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12884-019-2458-5
- Suandi, D., Williams, P., & Bhattacharya, S. (2020). Does involving male partners in antenatal care improve healthcare utilisation? Systematic review and metaanalysis of the published literature from low-and middle-income countries. *International Health*, 12(5), 484–498.
- Tilahun, M., & Mohamed, S. (2015). Male partners' involvement in the prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV and associated factors in Arba Minch Town and Arba Minch Zuria Woreda, Southern Ethiopia. *BioMed Research International*, 2015.
- Tweheyo, R., Konde-Lule, J., Tumwesigye, N. M., & Sekandi, J. N. (2010). Male partner attendance of skilled antenatal care in peri-urban Gulu district, Northern Uganda. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 10(1), 1–9.
- van den Berg, W., Brittain, K., Mercer, G., Peacock, D., Stinson, K., Janson, H., & Dubula, V. (2015). Improving men's participation in preventing mother-to-child transmission of HIV as a maternal, neonatal, and child health priority in South Africa. *PLoS Medicine*, 12(4), e1001811.
- Vermeulen, E., Solnes Miltenburg, A., Barras, J., Maselle, N., van Elteren, M., & van Roosmalen, J. (2016). Opportunities for male involvement during pregnancy in Magu district, rural Tanzania. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, *16*(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-016-0853-8
- WHO. (2016). WHO recommendations on antenatal care for a positive pregnancy experience.
- WHO. (2019). Maternal mortality: level and trends 2000 to 2017. In Sexual and Reproductive Health.

- Worku, M., Boru, B., Amano, A., & Musa, A. (2020). Male involvement and associated factors in birth preparedness and complication readiness in Debre Berhan town, north east Ethiopia. *Pan African Medical Journal*, 35, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.11604/pamj.2020.35.36.10346
- Yargawa, J., & Leonardi-Bee, J. (2015). Male involvement and maternal health outcomes: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 69(6), 604–612. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech-2014-204784
- Yende, N., Van Rie, A., West, N. S., Bassett, J., & Schwartz, S. R. (2017). Acceptability and preferences among men and women for male involvement in antenatal care. *Journal of Pregnancy*, 2017.
APPENDICES

Appendix I: Ethical Clearance



JOMO KENYATTA UNIVERSITY

OF

AGRICULTURE AND TECHNOLOGY P. O. Box 62000-00200 Nairobi, Kenya Tel 0675870225 OR Extn 3209 Institutional Ethics Review Committee

September 27th, 2019

REF: JKU/2/4/896B

Pascalyne Kavesa Nyamai, School of Public Health.

Dear Mrs. Nyamai,

RE: DETERMINANTS OF MALE INVOLVEMENT IN ANTENATAL CARE IN KITULEAT COUNTY

The JKUAT Institutional Ethics Review Committee has reviewed your responses to issues raised regarding your application to conduct the above mentioned study with you as the Principal Investigator.

The is to inform you that the IERC has approved your protocol. The approval period is from September 27th 2019 to September 27th 2020 and is subject to compliance with the following requirements:

- a) Only approved documents (informed consent, study instruments, study protocol, etc.) will be used.
- b) All changes (amendments, deviations, violations, etc.) must be submitted for review and approval by the JKUAT IERC before implementation.
- c) Death and life threatening problems and severe adverse events (SAEs) or unexpected adverse events whether related or unrelated to the study must be reported to the IERC immediately.
- d) Any changes, anticipated or otherwise that may increase the risks to or affect the welfare of study participants and others or affect the integrity of the study must be reported immediately. e) Should you require an extension of the approval period, kindly submit a request for extension 60 days
- prior to the expiry of the current approval period and attach supporting documentation
- f) Clearance for export of data or specimens must be obtained from the JKUAT IERC as well as the relevant government agencies for each consignment for export.
- g) The IERC requires a copy of the final report for record to reduce chances for duplication of similar studies.

Should you require clarification, kindly contact the JKUAT IERC Secretariat.

Yours Sincerely,

DR. PATRICK MBINDYO SECRETARY, IERC



Setting Trends in Higher Education, Research, Innovation and Entrepreneurship

Appendix II: NACOSTI Permit

Carlo Carlo		
DEPENDENCED FOR SERVICE		NATIONAL COMMISSION FOR SCIENCE, TECHNOLOGY & INNOVATION
Ro(No. 314480		Dute of Ioure 20/February/201
	RESEARCH LICE	INSE
	Sinty the B	
		and the second se
This is to Certify the learned in conduct s	at Ma. Passatyne Kaven Nyamal of Jonio Kenyatta Us research in Kitul on the topic: Determinants of Male Pa	niversity of Agriculture and Technology, has been rener involvement in Antennial Care in Kital East sub
This is to Cortify the located to conduct t County for the perio	at Ma., Passatyne Kavosa Nyamal of Joneo Kenyatta Un research in Kitul on the inplic Determinants of Male Pa at ending (20/February/2021.	niversity of Agriculture and Technology, has been erner Involvement in Antennial Care in Kital East ad
This is to Certify the learned to conduct t County for the perio	of Ma., Passiatyne Kavesa Nyamai of Jonio Konyatta Un research in Kitui on the inplic Determinants of Male Pa al onding i 20/February/2021. Lionne No. NACOSTE/P/2	niversity of Agricoffare and Technology, has been erner Involvement in Antennial Care in Kitul East and 20/3790
This is to Cortily the learned to conduct a County for the perio	of Ma., Passidyne Kavesa Nyamad of Jonao Konyatta Un research in Kitui on the inplic Determinants of Male Pa of ending i 20/Pebruary/2021. Linunse No. NACOSTE/P/2	niversity of Agricoffare and Technology, has been armer involvement in Antennial Care in Kitul East and 20/3780
This is to Cortify the locanood to conduct a Consety for the perio	nt Ala, Passatyne Koven Nyamai of Jama Kenyatta Usewaareh in Kitut an the inplic: Determinants of Male Pa at anding (2007ebenary/2021. Linuxie No: NACOSTEP/2	niversity of Agriculture and Technology, has been ormer involvement in Antennial Care in Kital East and 14/3780
This is to Contify the locaneed to conduct to consety for the perio	nt Ala, Passatyne Koven Nyamai of Jama Kenyatta Us ensearch in Klusi on the inplic: Discontinuets of Male Pa at ending (2007ebsuary/2021. Linuxie No: NACOSTE/9/2 214400 Andreas Interfactors Standar	niversity of Agriculture and Technology, has been ormer involvement in Antenatol Care in Kital East and 24/3780
This is to Contify the increased in conduct a County for the perio	nt Ala, Passatyne Koven Nyama of Jama Kenyata De ensearch in Klud on the inple: Determinants of Male Pa at ending (20/February/2021. Linuxe No. NACOSTE/9/2 214480 Applicant Identification Standar	niversity of Agriculture and Technology, has been prime Involvement in Antenatol Care in Kital East and 20/3780
This is to Contify the featured to conduct to County for the perio	nt Ma, Passatyao Kawasa Nyamai of Jama Kenyatta Us masareh in Kitui on the inple: Determinants of Male Pa al ending (20/February/2021) Linnise No. NACOSTE/P/2 214480 Applicant Identification Standar	niversity of Agriculture and Technology, has been erner involvement in Antennial Care in Kled East and 20/3780 Diractor Gameral NATIONAL COMMISSION FOR SCIENCE, TECHNOLOGY & ISOVATION
This is to Contify the formula in conduct a County for the perio	nt Ma, Passatyan Kawasa Nyamai of Jama Kenyatta De ensearch in Kitul on the topic: Determinants of Male Pa al ending (20/February/2021) Linnise No. NACOSTE/P/2 214480 Applicant Identification Standar	niversity of Agriculture and Technology, has been erner involvement in Antennial Care in Kleid East and 20/3780 Diractor Gameral NATIONAL COMMISSION FOR SCIENCE, TECHNOLOGY & ISMOVATION
This is to Certify the former in conduct to County file the perio	nt Ma, Passatyan Koosen Nyamai of Jama Konyatta De essarch in Kleut on the topic: Determinants of Male Ps of ending : 30/February/2021. Linnise No. NACOSTEP/2 314480 Applicant Identification Standar	niversity of Agriculture and Technology, has been prove involvement in Antennial Care in Kind East sub 2003790 Director Consent NATIONAL COMMISSION FOR SCIENCEL TECHNOLOGY & INVOVATION Venification OR Code
This is to Certify the learned in conduct r County for the perio	nt Ma, Panaulyne Kovern Nymuni of Jama Kovyutta Ur research in Klub on the topic: Determinants of Male Ps of ending : 300 February 2021. Linnise No. NACOSTEP/2 314480 Applicant Identification Standar	niversity of Agriculture and Technology, has been erner involvement in Antennald Care in Klud East and 20/3790 Director in Klud East and Director in Klud East Director in Klud East D
This is to Certify the locaneed in conduct (County for the perio	nt Mar, Pannadyan Kaweran Nyannai of Jamu Konyatta Ur research in Kital on the ingle: Determinants of Male Ps al moling : Determinants Linnise No. NACOSTEP/ 314480 Applicant Identification Standar	niverality of Agriculture and Technology, has been prime involvement in Antennial Care in Kina East and 20/3790 Diracine Consent NATIONAL DEVICE DEVICE SCIENCE, TECHNOLOGY & INNOVATION Venification OR Code
This is to Certify the locaneed to conduct a County for the perio	nt Mar, Panaudyan Kawesa Nyanani of Jama Konyatta Ur research in Kitul on the ingle: Description of Male Pa al moding (300 February 2003). Linnas No. NACOSTEP/2 314480 Applicant Identification Stander	aiverality of Agriculture and Technology, has been prime involvement in Antennial Care in Kind East and 20/3780 Diracine Chaneral NATIONAL SCIENCE TECHNOLOGY & INNOVATION Verification OR Code
This is to Certify the locaneed to conduct t Constly for the perio	nt Ala, Passatyan Koven Numai of Jumu Kenyattu Ur ensearch In Kluti on Uri inpli: Distributioninants of Male Pa al onding (2007ebsuary/2021. Linuxie No. NACOSTUP/2 214406 Applicant Identification: Standar	Animersky of Agriculture and Technology, has been primer involvement in Antennul Care in Kital East and 14/3780 Animersky State Diractor Guiseral NATIONAL COMMISSION FOR SCIENCE, TECHNOLOGY & INNOVATION Venification OR Code
This is to Contify the icconnect to constant to Connect for the perio	nt Ala, Passatyan Koreen Namai of Jama Kenyatta Ur ensearch in Klud on the inplic Distribution in Alde Pa at anding (2007 Polyage / 2021). Linnine No. NACOSTUP/2 214480 Applicant Identification Stunder	and a second sec

Appendix III: Participant Information Sheet

STUDY TITLE: Determinants of Male Partner Involvement in Antenatal Care in Kitui East Sub County

I would like to invite you to take part in a research study. Please take time to read the following information carefully and understand why the research is being conducted and what it would involve for you before you decide whether to participate or not. If you have any questions or you would like more information, feel free to ask.

Who am I and what is this study about?

My name is Pascalyne Nyamai, a student in Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology in the department of Public Health. I am doing this study as part of the requirements for the award of the Degree of Master of Science in Public Health of Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology. The overall aim of this study is to establish the factors that make men participate or not participate in antenatal care when their female partners are pregnant specifically in Kitui East Sub County.

What will taking part involve?

Your participation will involve answering questions that the interviewers will ask you through a questionnaire on socio demographic characteristics; sociocultural factors; health system related factors; and your awareness of male partner involvement in antenatal care. The questions will also touch on the physical support; financial support; psychosocial support; and decision making of the male partner in antenatal care. The interview will take approximately 30 minutes.

Why have you been selected to take part?

You have been selected to take part because you fall in the eligible criteria of men who are 18 years and above whose female partner gave birth 12 months prior to the study.

Do you have to take part?

Your participation is voluntary and you have the right to refuse participation, refuse to answer any questions and withdraw at any time without any consequence or prejudice whatsoever.

What are the possible risks and benefits of taking part?

There are no possible risks whether physical or psychological harm that may occur if you choose to participate in the study. There are no direct benefits that you are going to get if you choose to participate. However, we hope that the information obtained in this study will form a useful database for reference by practitioners in antenatal care and may assist in the development of model programs to mitigate poor maternal outcomes.

Will taking part be confidential?

Confidentiality and anonymity of your participation will be ensured. Your responses will be anonymous. Measures that will be taken to ensure confidentiality include:

- Assigning code names that will be used on all research notes and documents
- Keeping signed consent forms, filled questionnaires and any personal information in a locked safe accessible by the principle researcher only.

Participant's data will be kept confidential except in cases where the researcher is legally obligated to report specific incidents. These incidents include, but may not be limited to, incidents of abuse.

How will information you provide be stored and protected?

Signed consent forms and data collected will be stored in a locked safe only accessible by the principal researcher until after my degree has been conferred and that it will be used for the purpose of the current research only.

What will happen to the results?

The final research product will be published and thereafter submitted for the award of my degree.

Who should you contact for further information?

For further information kindly contact the principle researcher:

Pascalyne Nyamai

Mobile number: 0725285386

Email Address: passy.nyamai@gmail.com

THANK YOU

Appendix IV: Consent Form

Title of Study: Determinants of Male Partner Involvement in Antenatal Care in Kitui East Sub County

By signing below, I confirm the following:

 \Box I have been given oral information and read the written information sheet for the above study. I have had the opportunity to ask questions and I have had these answered satisfactorily.

□ I understand that my participation is voluntary and I am free to withdraw from the study without giving a reason.

□ I understand that my personal details will be confidential.

□ I understand that there are no direct benefits I will get from my participation in the study.

I therefore voluntarily agree to take part in this study.

Participant's signature	Date
-------------------------	------

Investigator's signature	Date
0 0	

Appendix V: Questionnaire

Male Involvement Questionnaire

01	In what month and year	Month of hirth	
QI	were you born?	DON'T KNOW MONTH	08
	were you born.	Vear of birth	20
		DON'T KNOW YFAR	98
റാ	Have you ever attended	Vec)0 1
QZ	school?	No	2
Q3	What is the highest level of	Nursery/kindergarten	1
	school you attended :	Primary	2
	primary, post-primary or	Secondary	3
	vocational, secondary or 'A'	Tertiary/Vocational	4
	level, college or university?	College/University	5
		Adult education	6
		Other (Specify)	96
Q4	What is the highest	CLASS/FORM/STANDARD/YEAR	
	(standard /form/ year) you	[]]	
	completed at that level?		
	IF NO YEAR COMPLETED,		
	WRITE "00"		
Q5	What is your religion?	Roman catholic	1
		Protestant/ Other Christian	2
		Seventh Day Adventist	3
		Muslim	4
		No religion	5
		Other (Specify)	96
Q6	What is your current	Single/Not married	1
	marital status	Married	2
		Cohabiting	3
		Divorced	4
		Separated	5
		Widowed	6
Q7	Is your wife living with you	Living with You	1
	now, or does she stay elsewhere?	Staying Elsewhere	2
Q8	How old is your spouse?	AGE IN COMPLETED YEARS	
Q9	What is the highest level of	Nursery/kindergarten	1
	education she has attended	Primary	2
		Secondary	3
		Tertiary/Vocational	4
		College/University	5
		Adult education	6
		Other (Specify)	96
Q10	What is the highest	CLASS/FORM/STANDARD/YEAR	
-	(standard /form/ year) she	r1	

	Socio-Demographic Characteristics				
	completed at that level?				
	IF NO YEAR COMPLETED,				
	WRITE "00"				
Q11	What is your wife's	Formal employment	1		
	employment status	Informal employment	2		
		Not employed	3		
Q12	How old are your children?	Age in Years			
	(RECORD THE AGE OF				
	EACH OF THE CHILDREN)				
Q13	How many pregnancies has	number of pregnancies			
	your wife/wives had in total				
	AWARE	NESS OF ANTENATAL CARE			
Q14	Have you ever heard of	Yes	1		
	antenatal care?	No	2		
Q15	What do you understand by	It is regular medical and nursing care recommended	1		
	antenatal care?	for women during pregnancy			
		It is to treat and prevent potential health problems			
		throughout the course of the pregnancy	2		
		It helps in promoting healthy lifestyles that benefit			
		both mother and child	3		
		Other (Specify)	96		
Q16	Why is antenatal check-up	To know the condition of baby	1		
	necessary?	To know the health of the mother	2		
		To avoid complication	3		
		For safe delivery	4		
		Other (Specify)	96		
Q17	Is it necessary for a woman	Yes	1		
	to go for ANC even if there is	No	2		
	no pregnancy related	Don't know	98		
	complication?				
Q18	What is the minimum	1	1		
	required number of antenatal	2	2		
	visits a pregnant woman	3	3		
	should make throughout her	4	4		
	pregnancy?	Other (specify)	96		
		Don't know	98		
Q19	First antenatal examination	Yes	1		
	should be done within the	No	2		
_	first 3 months	Don't know	98		
Does a	a pregnant woman need to unde	rgo the following test during her antenatal check-up?			
Q20	Blood screening for hepatitis	Yes	1		
	B infection?	No	2		
	D 1 1	Don't know	98		
Q21	Blood screening for HIV	Yes	1		
	infection?		2		
000	ם ב-ות	Don't know	98 1		
Q22	blood screening for	I es	1		
	naemogiodin ievel?	INU Den't know	۲ 08		
		DOILT KIIOW	70		

	Socio-	Demographic Characteristic	S
Q23	Blood pressure	Yes	1
	measurement?	No	2
		Don't know	98
Q24	Blood sugar testing?	Yes	1
		No	2
		Don't know	98
Q25	Can high blood pressure	Yes	1
	affect the foetal growth?	No	2
		Don't know	98
Q26	Is weight measurement	Yes	1
	required during every	No	2
	antenatal visit?	Don't know	98
Q27	Is maternal smoking harmful	Yes	1
	to the foetus?	No	2
		Don't know	98
Q28	Can alcohol consumption	Yes	1
	during pregnancy affect the	No	2
	fetal growth?	Don't know	98
Q29	Are you aware of danger	Yes	1
	signs of pregnancy?	No	2
		Don't know	98
Q30	What are the danger signs of	Excessive vomiting	1
	pregnancy?	Persistent swelling of limbs	2
	(More than one can be	Vaginal bleeding/discharge	3
	ticked)	Convulsion	4
		Weak or no movement of baby	5
		visual disturbance	6
		Pain abdomen	7
021	If your wife get any problem	Penert to health Center	98
Q31	during her programmer what	Home remody	1
	would you do: -	Self-medication	2
	would you do	Japore it	4
		Other (Specify)	96
			50
		PHISICAL SUPPORT	
Q32	Was the most recent	Yes	1
	pregnancy planned?	No	2
		Don't Know	98
Q33	When your wife was	Yes	1
	pregnant, did she attend any	No	2
	clinic for antenatal (ANC) check-ups?	Don't Know	98
034	What prompted your wife go	She was sick	1
Q. 1	for an ANC check-up?	She was advised by a health worker	2
	(more than 1 answer can be	She was advised by a friend	- 3
	marked)	She was advised by family members	4
	/	Other (Specify)	96
Q35	When did your wife visit the	Between 1 st and 2 nd month	1
•	health facility for her first	2-3 rd month	2
	ANC check-up?	3-4 th month	3

Socio-Demographic Characteristics			
		Other (Specify)	96
		Don't remember	99
Q36	Prior to delivery, how many times did your wife visit the health facility for ANC check-ups?	times	
Q37	What informed the choice of	Close to my house	1
	health institution you went	Close to where I work	2
	for checkup?	Inexpensive	3
	(more than 1 answer can be	Behavior of staff is good	4
	marked)	Convenient timing	5
		Good quality service	6
		Others (Specify)	96
238	Did you ever accompany	Yes	1
	your wife to the hospital for	No	2
	their routine antenatal care during the most recent pregnancy?		
239	How many ANC visits did	1	1
•	you accompany your wife?	2	2
	, , , ,	3	3
		4	4
		5	5
		Other (specify)	96
040	What motivated vou to	For safe delivery	1
	accompany your wife for	For healthy child	2
	antenatal check-up during	Free care	3
	pregnancy?	Health facility nearby	4
	1 0 7	Good service	5
		Encouraged by family	6
		Motivated by health care workers	7
		For monetary benefit	8
		Other (Specify)	96
Q41	Did your wife go for	Yes	1
~	antenatal check-ups during	No	2
	all the previous pregnancies?	Don't know	98
Q42	What was the main reason	No time for ANC	1
	why your wife did not go for	Transportation difficulties	2
	ANC?	No knowledge	3
		Cost Too Much	4
		Facility Closed	5
		Facility is too Far/No facility nearby	6
		Don't trust facility	7
		Poor quality service	8
		Not the first child	9
		She did not think it was necessary	10
		I did not think it was necessary	11
		Did not feel like	12
		Fear of being rebuked by health workers	13

	Socio	-Demographic Characteristics	
		Expenses were unaffordable	14
		Clinic is too far away from home	15
		Family members disapproved	16
		Poor transportation to the health facility	17
		She was scared	18
		Feel shy	19
		Religious beliefs	20
		She didn't know the importance	21
		Other (Specify)	96
		Don't Know	98
Q43	Did you accompany your	Yes	1
Ċ	wife for ANC during all the	No	2
	previous pregnancies?	Don't remember	99
Q44	If answer of above question	Lack of or inadequate Information	1
~	is No then, what was main	Opposition from male peers	2
	reason for missing all/some	Not available	3
	of the visits?	Did not feel like	4
		Differences with my wife	5
		Work commitments	6
		Fear of being rebuked by health workers	7
		Expenses were unaffordable	8
		Clinic is too far away from home	9
		Family members disapproved	10
		Poor transportation to the health facility	11
		I was scared	12
		Feel shy	
		Religious beliefs	14
		Don't know the importance	15
		Wife did not think it was necessary	16
		I Did Not Think It Was Necessary	17
		Too Far	18
		Poor Ouality Service	19
		No health facility nearby	20
		Other (Specify)	96
	PS	YCHOSOCIAL SUPPORT	
Q45	During the most recent	Yes	1
· ·	pregnancy, did you support	No	2
	use of ANC by your spouse?	Don't know	98
Q46	Did you encourage your wife	Yes	1
•	to attend antenatal clinic?	No	2
		Don't know	98
Q47	Did you approve your wife	Yes	1
	going to the ANC clinic?	No	2
		Don't know	98
Q48	Did you identify the date of	Yes	1
	birth	No	2
		Don't know	98
Q49	Did you identify a health	Yes	1
-	facility where your wife	No	2
	would deliver the baby?	Don't know	98

	Socio-	Demographic Characteris	stics
Q50	Did you ensure good	Yes	1
	nutrition for your wife?	No	2
		Don't know	98
Q51	Did you identify a mode of	Yes	1
	transportation to the health	No	2
	facility?	Don't know	98
	DEC	ISION MAKING SUPPO	RT
Q52	In a couple, who do you think should have the greater say in each of the following decisions:	Husband Wife	Both Equally Don't know
52a	Making household purchases?		
52b	Deciding what to do with the money she earns for her work?		
52c	Deciding how many children to have and when?		
Q53	During the most recent	Yes	1
	pregnancy, did you discuss about ANC with your wife?	No	2
Q54	Who made the decision to	Husband	1
	attend ANC?	Wife	2
		Both Equally	3
		Relatives	4
		Friends	5
~		Don't Know/Depends	98
Q55	Where was your last (most	In a health facility	1
	recent) baby delivered?	At home	2
054		Other (specify)	96
Q56	what was the mode of		1
	delivery for the recent birth?	Caesarean section	2
057	Who desided the place of	Don t know	98
Q37	who decided the place of	Husballu Wife	1
	delivery:	Roth Faually	2
		Relatives	4
		Friends	5
		Don't Know/Depends	98
	I	FINANCIAL SUPPORT	
058	What is your main source of	Formal employment	1
250	income?	Informal employment/ Jua kali	2
	income.	Business/Self employed	- 3
		Farming	4
		Casual work	5
		Parental/relative support	6
		Spousal support	7
		Pension	8
		Cash transfer from government	9
		Other (Specify)	10

racteristics
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
1
2
3
96
1
2
98
1
2
98
1
2
98
ENATAL CARE
Neutral Disagree Strongly
Disagree Disagree
Disagree
1
2
3
4
5

	Socio	Demograph	ic Charac	teristics		
		Discussion with p Printed materials Other (Specify)_	people		6 7 8	
	SOCIA	L AND CU	LTURAL	NORMS		
	I will now read you a statement about pregnancy and antenatal care. Please tell me if you strongly agree, agree, neutral, disagree or strongly disagree with it	Strongly Agree	Agree	Neutral	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
Q72	Childbearing is a women's affair and does not require the husband's participation					
Q73	Antenatal care is women's business and a man should not have to worry about it					
Q74	Fear of being tested for HIV hindered me from accompanying my wife to the clinic					
Q75	In my community, it is a bad omen for men to escort their pregnant women to hospital for antenatal check ups					
Q76	My male friends think pregnancy and child birth is women's business					
Q77	My friends will view me as less of a man if I am seen escorting my pregnant wife to hospital					
Q78	My religious beliefs affect my decisions on antenatal care					
Q79	Traditional and cultural beliefs in my community affect your decision on antenatal care					
	HEA	ALTH SYST	TEM FAC	TORS		
Q80	How far is the nearest healthcare facility from your house?		kilo	meters		
Q81	What kind of a facility is it? <i>(Circle all that apply)</i>	Dispensary Health Centre Sub County Hosp County referral h Private clinic Other (Specify)	ital ospital		1 2 3 4 5 96	
Q82	What form of transport do you often use to travel to this	Walking Bicycle			1 2	

	<u>Socio</u>	Demograph	<u>ic Charac</u>	teristics		
	health facility	Motorcycle (Boda	Boda)		3	
		Motorcycle (own)			4	
		Public transport (I	Matatu/bus)		5	
		Taxi			6	
		Personal car			7	
		Other (Specify)			96	
Q83	How did you find the	Positive			1	
	attitude of health care	Negative			2	
	providers towards clients in	Don't know/deper	ıds		3	
	this health facility?	1				
Q84	How long did you have to	Less than 30 min			1	
·	wait before you were	30–60 min			2	
	attended to?	1 hour- 2 hours			3	
		2 hours-3 hours			4	
		3 hours- 4 hours			5	
		4 hours- 5 hours			6	
		More than 5 hours	5		7	
To wł	hat extent do you agree with	Strongly	Disagree	Not Sure	Agree	Strongly
the fo	ollowing statements in relation	Disagree	8		8	Agree
to voi	ur experience with ANC					
servic	ces in the health care facility					
785	Service provision was slow					
	and the waiting hours were					
	long?					
086	The waiting bay and					
200	counselling space lacked					
	privacy and was crowded					
	with mothers and children					
787	Service providers were rude					
201	and unfriendly					
088	I was offered sufficient					
200	consultation time and					
	received sufficient					
	information					
089	I was given the opportunity					
201	to ask questions and clarify					
	doubte during congultation					
ഫ	My opinions were taken into					
270	consideration					
201	L was treated respectfully and					
QH	I was treated respectfully and					
າດາ	We were given priority					
292	we were given priority					
000	my wife					
293	ine motive for my visit was					
	addressed and the medical					
	care we received was					
	satistactory					

Appendix VI: Publication

Article ∂

PanAfrican Medical

Research 🥼

Prevalence and correlates of male partner involvement in antenatal care services in eastern Kenya: a cross-sectional study

Pascalyne Kavesa Nyamai, Doseph Matheri, Kenneth Ngure

Corresponding author: Pascalyne Kavesa Nyamai, Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology, Nairobi, Kenya, passy.nyamai@gmail.com

Received: 16 Sep 2021 - Accepted: 10 Feb 2022 - Published: 28 Feb 2022

Keywords: Male partner, antenatal care, maternal health, physical support, financial support, decision-making support

Copyright: Pascalyne Kavesa Nyamai et al. Pan African Medical Journal (ISSN: 1937-8688). This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution International 4.0 License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Cite this article: Pascalyne Kavesa Nyamai et al. Prevalence and correlates of male partner involvement in antenatal care services in eastern Kenya: a cross-sectional study. Pan African Medical Journal. 2022;41(167). 10.11604/pamj.2022.41.167,31535

Available online at: https://www.panafrican-med-journal.com//content/article/41/167/full

Prevalence and correlates of male partner involvement in antenatal care services in eastern Kenya: a cross-sectional study

Pascalyne Kavesa Nyamai^{1,8}, Joseph Matheri¹, Kenneth Ngure¹

¹Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology, Nairobi, Kenya

⁵Corresponding author

Pascalyne Kavesa Nyamai, Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology, Nairobi, Kenya

Abstract

Introduction: male partner involvement in antenatal care (ANC) contributes to improved maternal health outcomes, but has been wanting in sub-Saharan Africa. We investigated the prevalence and factors associated with male involvement in ANC. Methods: this was a cross-sectional survey conducted in November and December 2019 in Kitui East sub-county, Kenya. We recruited men above 18 years whose spouses had given birth 12-months prior to the study. Data were collected at the household level using an interviewer-administered questionnaire. Male involvement was defined as

PanAfrican Medical Journal

provision of physical, psycho-social, decisionmaking, and financial support, which was measured through twelve questions. Factor scores of the twelve questions were generated by fitting a Rasch model. Participants who scored at least 75% were involved. Bivariate and multivariate logistic regression models were fitted to identify the independent predictors of male involvement. Results: a total of 300 participants were interviewed. The mean age was 36.7 years (SD=±7.6), 52.3% had primary level education, 64.3% had between 1-3 children, 44.6% were 5 years older than their spouses, while 37.3% earned between \$50-\$100 per month. The prevalence of male involvement in ANC was 61% (95%C.I: 55.7%, 66.3%) and was positively associated with previous ANC attendance by the spouse (AOR= 4.96, 95% CI: 2.37, 10.38, p<0.001), having 1-2 and 3-4 children (AOR= 4.57, 95% CI: 1.70, 12.31, p=0.003 and AOR= 4.84, 95% CI: 1.59, 14.79, p=0.006) respectively. On the contrary, participants who lacked knowledge on the minimum ANC visits (AOR= 0.37, 95% CI: 0.17, 0.83, p=0.016), unplanned pregnancy (AOR=0.22, 95% CI: 0.10, o<0.001). and individual financial 0.48.decision-making (AOR= 0.42, 95% CI: 0.21, 0.89, p=0.023) were less likely to be involved. Conclusion: more than half of the participants reported involvement in ANC, which was significantly associated with previous ANC experience and having less than four children. Empowering men with knowledge on ANC and joint decision-making with their spouses is imperative in order to improve male involvement.

Introduction

Despite a significant global decline in maternal deaths over the past two decades, the rate of maternal mortality remains unacceptably high [1]. Low and middle income countries account for approximately 94% of these maternal deaths annually, with about two thirds occurring in sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) [2]. The estimated maternal mortality ratio (MMR) of SSA is 542 deaths per 100,000 live births, which is more than double the

global maternal mortality ratio of 211 deaths per 100,000 live births [2]. In Kenya, the 2014 demographic and health survey reported a MMR of 362 deaths per 100,000 live births, with large regional disparities [3]. Counties such as Mandera, Wajir and Turkana have the highest burden and reported relatively high MMR of 3795, 1683 and 1594, respectively [4].

Most of these maternal deaths which occur as a result of complications during and following pregnancy and childbirth [5-8] are preventable through timely provision of adequate and skilled maternal health care before, during and after childbirth [9,10]. Antenatal care has been documented as a high impact intervention in reducing maternal mortality [11]. Antenatal care (ANC) is defined as the care provided by skilled healthcare professionals to pregnant women and adolescent girls to ensure the best health conditions for both mother and baby during pregnancy [12]. While four ANC visits are the recommended minimum, fewer women (52%) especially in SSA attain this score [13,14]. In Kenya, only 58% of women attend the four recommended ANC visits during pregnancy [3]. Despite the wide availability of ANC services in many settings, women are constrained from accessing the services by a variety of factors including long distance to health facilities, lack of information, inadequate and poor quality services and cultural beliefs and practices [15-18].

Previous research has established that male partner involvement in ANC is positively associated with their pregnant partners' utilization of reproductive health care services, thus improving maternal and child health outcomes [19]. Unfortunately, over the years, male partner involvement in antenatal care has been wanting globally and more so in low and middle income countries. In particular, countries in SSA that account for the larger share of maternal deaths have reported correspondingly low levels of male involvement which include 54% in Tanzania [20], 29.8% in Ethiopia [21], 6% in Wakiso District, Uganda [22] and 26% in Nairobi, Kenya [23].

Pascalyne Kavesa Nyamai et al. PAMJ - 41(167). 28 Feb 2022. - Page numbers not for citation purposes.

PanAfrican Medical Journal

Although male partner support is of critical importance, there is a paucity of evidence on factors influencing their involvement during ANC in Kenya. Previous studies have mainly examined the level, barriers and effect of male involvement on utilization of ANC services [23-25]. Other studies have documented individual domains of male involvement such as financial, physical and decision-making support, and associated factors [26-29]. To our knowledge, there is a dearth of empirical evidence on how the four main domains (physical, financial, psycho-social and decision-making support) interact to influence male involvement in ANC. The objective of this study was to establish the proportion of male partners involved in ANC, and identify the factors influencing male partner involvement in ANC in Kitui East sub-County, Kenya.

Methods

Study design and study setting: this study was a descriptive cross-sectional survey that was conducted in November and December 2019, in Kitui East sub-county. Kitui East is one of the eight sub-counties in Kitui County that is situated in southeastern Kenya. The sub-county has approximately 17,143 households and has an estimated population of 123,239 individuals. The main economic activity is farming although it is beset by sporadic rainfall. Kitui East sub-County was selected because it is one of the regions that continue to record high rates of maternal mortality, low rates of ANC and skilled birth attendance, and that limited studies have addressed this phenomenon to date [3].

Study participants: eligible study participants were men aged 18 years and above, whose female partners had given birth 12 months prior to the study. We derived a sample size of 297 participants using Cochran's formula [30] with 5% precision at a 95% confidence interval, and estimated the proportion of male partner involvement in ANC using a similar study by Aluisio [23], which documented 26.2% male involvement. The sampling proportion was derived from the 2014 Kenya Demographic and Health Survey [3], where there were 438 live births from 850 households in the five year period. This translated to approximately 88 births per year, and about one reported birth per 10 households. Using this sampling proportion, we estimated that we needed to visit 2,970 households out of the approximately 17,143 households in Kitui East sub-County, in order to recruit a sample of 297 participants.

Participants were recruited using multi-stage purposive and random sampling. In the first stage, 3 out of the 6 wards in Kitui East sub-county were purposively selected to ensure geographic spread and representation of the rural and peri-urban population. The 2,970 households were then equally distributed across the 3 wards translating to 990 households per ward. Then at ward level, we identified all the community health units and randomly selected 990 households from the household registers. Community health workers from community units covering the selected households were engaged to help identify households with potential participants using the eligibility criteria. The community health workers then guided the study team to the selected households. At the household level, the research assistants screened the potential participants for eligibility using a recruitment script, then invited eligible participants to the study. Those who expressed interest were then consented by the research assistants. Where potential participants were unavailable, or the participants were ineligible or not interested in participation, a replacement household was visited until the sample size of 297 participants was achieved.

Study variables and measurement: data were collected using a standardized questionnaire administered by trained research assistants. Male involvement in antenatal care was measured through twelve (12) questions that directly assessed the four major domains of male involvement; physical support, psycho-social support, decision-making support and financial support. The specific questions were; (i) "Did you ever accompany your wife to the hospital for their

Pascalyne Kavesa Nyamai et al. PAMJ - 41(167). 28 Feb 2022. - Page numbers not for citation purposes.



routine antenatal care during the most recent pregnancy?", (ii) "During the most recent pregnancy, did you support the use of ANC by your spouse?",(iii) "Did you encourage your wife to attend the antenatal clinic?", (iv) "Did you approve your wife going to the ANC clinic?", (v) "Did you ensure good nutrition for your wife?", (vi) "Did you identify a mode of transportation to the health facility?", (vii) "During the most recent pregnancy, did you discuss ANC with your wife?", (viii) "Who made decision to attend ANC", (ix) "Who decided the place of delivery?" (x) "During the most recent pregnancy, did you provide money for clinic costs and medication related to the antenatal clinic visit?" (xi) "During the most recent pregnancy, did you provide money for transport to the clinic?" (xii) "Did you save any money for emergencies related to the pregnancy?" The respondents answered either "yes" or "no" to all questions except questions viii and ix where if either the man or both partners made the decision, it was coded as 1 or else it was coded as 0. For all other guestions "Yes" was coded as 1 "No" as 0. Other variables that were assessed through a standardized questionnaire included knowledge of ANC, sources of ANC information, and perceived health provider's attitude towards the participants. The questionnaire was pre-tested by trained research assistants who administered it among 15 participants who met the study's eligibility criteria and were drawn from a separate ward that was not sampled for the study.

Statistical analysis: the completed questionnaires were first reviewed for any inconsistencies. Data were then entered into the statistical package for social sciences (SPSS) version 24, where further cleaning was done to ensure the completeness of the dataset.

Male involvement: data reduction techniques were used to summarize the observed male involvement variables into a few dimensions through latent variable modelling using the "eRm" [31], "Itm" [32], and "difR" [33] R package. Component internal consistency and reliability used to calculate male involvement scores were assessed by calculating Cronbach's alpha (a), which was found to be 0.913 (95% C.I, 0.896-0.926).

Pairwise associations between the 12 males involvement variables were computed using spearman's correlation and all variables were found to be significantly positively correlated to each other, hence all items were retained for further analysis. Factor scores were then generated by fitting a one-parameter logistic regression model, also known as the Rasch model [34]. The scores had a bimodal negatively skewed distribution, suggesting that there were two groups. Participants scoring less than zero were classified as "not-involved" while those with more than zero were classified as "involved". Each participant needed to score a 1 in at least 9 of the 12 items (75% and above) to be considered involved.

Determinants of male involvement: descriptive statistics were employed to estimate the frequencies of participants' socio-demographic characteristics and other factors that included knowledge of ANC, sources of ANC information, and perceived health provider's attitude. The association between male involvement and other variables were estimated using bivariate logistic regression, which was first fitted to identify potential predictors and confounding factors. Variables with a p-value <0.25 were fitted into a multivariate binary logistic regression model to identify independent predictors of male involvement. Adjusted odds ratio with its 95% confidence interval was calculated to report the strength and significance of the association. All tests were two-sided and statistical significance was set at $p \le 0.05$.

Ethical considerations: ethical considerations were complied with before, during and after the data collection activity. Ethical approval was obtained from the Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology (JKUAT) Institutional Ethics Review Committee (IERC), and a research permit was obtained from the National Commission for Science, Technology and Innovation (NACOSTI). All

Article ∂



research assistants undertook human subject's protection training. All participants provided informed written consent and the survey interviews were conducted in locations that guaranteed both verbal and visual privacy for the participants. Participant names were not captured in the data collection tools and all completed tools were stored in locked cabinets only accessible by the principal investigator. Personal identifiers were kept separate from the data collection tools and were all destroyed upon completion of the data collection.

Results

A total of 300 participants were enrolled in the study. The mean age of the participants was 36.7 years (SD=±7.6), and the majority (43.3%) were aged between 35-44 years. The mean age for the participants' spouses was 30.8 years (SD=±6.1). In addition,44.6% of the participants were aged 5 years or older than their spouses. More than half (52.3%) of the respondents had primary education and below, 30.7% had secondary education and 17% had tertiary/post-secondary education. The majority (37.3%) earned between \$50 - \$100 per month and most of the respondents (64.3%) had between 1-3 children.

About two thirds (66.7%) of the participants had no knowledge of the required minimum number of ANC visits and 73.0% were unaware of danger signs of pregnancy. Most (73.7%) had planned for their spouse's pregnancies, while 66% of the respondents indicated that their spouses went for ANC during previous pregnancies. With regard to decision-making on finances, 45.7% of the respondents indicated that they jointly made decisions with their spouse, 38% made the decision alone, and 16.3% indicated that their spouses made the decision. Slightly more than half (50.7%) of the respondents received information on ANC from health care providers, followed by 21.7% who received information from their spouses, and another 15.7% from mass media sources. More than half of the respondents (58.3%) indicated that the health service providers had a positive attitude,

while 30% reported a negative attitude, and 11.7% had not visited the health facility (Table 1).

The overall prevalence of male involvement in antenatal care was 61% (n=183), (95% C.I: 55.7%, 66.3%). However, involvement in each of the twelve male involvement variables ranged from 23.3% to 91.0%, with the majority (91%) ensuring that their spouses had good nutrition while the least (23.3%) accompanied their wife/spouse to the hospital for routine antenatal care (Table 2).

The results of bivariate analysis are presented in Table 3. Participants with 1-2 children and 3-4 children were about 4 and 5 times more involved (AOR= 4.57, 95% CI: 1.7, 12.31), p=0.003; AOR= 4.84, 95% CI: 1.59, 14.79, p=0.006) respectively, as compared to those with 5 children and above. Participants who lacked knowledge of the minimum number of ANC visits were less likely to be involved (AOR= 0.37, 95% CI: 0.17, 0.83, p=0.016) compared to those who had that knowledge. The odds of male involvement among respondents whose spouses had unplanned pregnancies was 0.22 times less involved (AOR=0.22, 95% CI: 0.10, 0.48, p<0.001). Participants whose spouses went for ANC during previous pregnancies were about 5 times more involved (AOR= 4.96, 95% CI: 2.37, 10.38, p<0.001) compared to those who did not. Participants who made financial decisions alone were about 0.43 (AOR= 0.42, 95% CI: 0.21, 0.89, p=0.023) less involved as compared to participants who made the decision jointly (Table 4).

Discussion

Findings from this study show that 61% of men supported their spouses to access ANC services. The majority provided nutritional support and the least support was in accompanying their spouses to the clinic. Additionally, almost two-thirds were unaware of the danger signs of pregnancy and also lacked knowledge on the minimum required number of ANC visits. The likelihood of male involvement in ANC was higher among participants with less than four children, and those whose



spouses went for ANC during previous pregnancies. These results are consistent with previous studies in western Kenya, Uganda and Tanzania where the proportion of male involvement was 55.8%, 77.8% and 54.4%, respectively [20,24,35]. However, this study reported almost double the levels of male involvement that have been documented in other studies in Nairobi, Kenya (26.2%), Ethiopia (29.8%), and Ghana (35%) [21,23,36].

Participants who had less than 4 children were more likely to be involved compared to those with 5 or more children. While this is in line with findings from similar studies [36,37], these studies made comparison to men who lacked children unlike the present study. In contrast, a study in Tanzania [38] found that having more than 4 children was significantly associated with male involvement in maternity care, and was attributed to fertility preferences, concern over mothers' health, and familiarity with the health system. It is plausible that a positive clinic experience and interest in the health of the mother and baby could have influenced the involvement of men with less than 4 children. However, men with more than 5 children could have been less involved due to socio-cultural beliefs that ANC is a women's affair or previous negative experiences with the health system as elucidated by other studies in the region [22,35,39,40].

The findings further show that men whose spouses went for ANC during previous pregnancies were more likely to be involved compared to those who did not. These findings suggest that men appreciated the need to support their wives based on counseling and experience from previous ANC interactions [29], but it is also likely that they had a positive experience with the health system that motivated them [41]. An interesting finding was that men who reported unplanned pregnancies were less likely to be involved compared to planned pregnancies. This finding suggests that men portray a greater sense of responsibility when a pregnancy is accepted by the couple as affirmed by a study in Kenya [29]. However, this is contrasted by a study in Uganda where the likelihood of involvement was higher for unplanned pregnancies [22].

While level of education was not significant in contrast to a number of studies [22,29,36,37], men who lacked knowledge on the minimum number of ANC visits were less likely to be involved. These findings suggest that an understanding of the risks, benefits and roles that men can play could be an important factor in their involvement, and is consistent with existing studies which found a significant association between knowledge of ANC and male involvement [37,42-44]. In addition, participants who made financial decisions individually, were less likely to be involved compared to those who made joint decisions with their spouses. It is plausible to state that joint decision-making meant spouses had good communication that made it easier to discuss and prioritize ANC. This finding is consistent with studies which have reported that positive interpersonal relationships lead to equitable decision-making [45], and conversely poor communication contributes to lack of male involvement [39,46].

Study limitations: this study had several limitations. First, this study only interviewed male respondents and did not interview their spouses to corroborate the information reported. There is a likelihood of social desirability bias from some of the respondents who may have wanted to appear more involved than they actually had been. Secondly, the study is likely to have suffered from recall limitation since we sampled participants whose spouses had given birth twelve months prior to the study, and they may have forgotten details of their experiences. Finally, Kitui East sub-County is geographically sparse with part of the sub-County peri-urban and densely populated, while a larger section was rural and sparsely populated. While we attempted to account for this through purposively selecting the 3 wards where data were collected, there is a likelihood that these differentials may not be accurately accounted for in the results. Despite these limitations, this study provides empirical evidence on the levels of male partner involvement

PanAfrican Medical

and associated factors in Kitui East sub-county, Kenya.

Conclusion

This study has demonstrated that more than half of the participants reported involvement in ANC services. The majority of the participants provided nutrition support, while fewer participants accompanied their spouses to the clinic. Fewer children and previous ANC experience were significantly associated with male involvement. On the other hand, unplanned pregnancies, lack of knowledge on ANC and individual decision-making on finances were least associated with male involvement. Therefore, empowering men with knowledge of ANC and enhancing couple communication are critical strategies to enhance male involvement in ANC services.

What is known about this topic

- Male partner involvement in ANC results in improved maternal outcomes;
- Previous studies have documented the levels, barriers and effect of male partner involvement on utilization of ANC services;
- Studies have also documented individual domains of male partner involvement such as financial, physical and decision-making support, and associated factors.

What this study adds

- An understanding of the level of male partner involvement in ANC in Kitui East sub-County;
- Empirical evidence on how the four main domains of male involvement (physical, financial, psycho-social and decisionmaking support) interact to influence male involvement in ANC, and the associated factors.

Competing interests

The authors declare no competing interests.

Authors' contributions

All authors conceptualized the study. PKN collected and analyzed the data and wrote the initial draft of the manuscript. KN and JM reviewed and revised the manuscript. All authors read and approved this final version.

Tables

Table 1: socio-demographic and other characteristics of the respondents

Table 2: male involvement in antenatal care across 12 dimensions

Table 3: factors associated with male involvement in ANC

Table 4: independent predictors of male involvement in ANC

References

- WHO. Maternal mortality. 2019. Accessed 2021 Mar 13
- WHO. Maternal mortality: level and trends 2000 to 2017. Sexual and Reproductive Health. 2019. Accessed 2021 Mar 13
- Kenya National Bureau of Statistics. Kenya Demographic and Health Survey. Kenya National Bureau of Statistics. 2014. 2015;1-358.
- National Council for Population and Development. Reducing Maternal Deaths in Kenya. Policy Br. 2015;(46).
- Say L, Chou D, Gemmill A, Tunçalp Ö, Moller AB, Daniels J et al. Global causes of maternal death: A WHO systematic analysis. Lancet Glob Heal. 2014;2(6): 323-33. PubMed| Google Scholar
- Shah B, Krishnan N, Kodish SR, Yenokyan G, Fatema K, Burhan Uddin K et al. Applying the Three Delays Model to understand emergency care seeking and delivery in rural Bangladesh: a qualitative study. BMJ Open. 2020;10(12). PubMed| Google Scholar



- Sk MIK, Paswan B, Anand A, Mondal NA. Praying until death: Revisiting three delays model to contextualize the socio-cultural factors associated with maternal deaths in a region with high prevalence of eclampsia in India. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2019;19(1): 1-11.
 PubMed | Google Scholar
- Mgawadere F, Unkels R, Kazembe A, van den Broek N. Factors associated with maternal mortality in Malawi: Application of the three delays model. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2017;17(1): 1-9. PubMed| Google Scholar
- WHO. Trends in Maternal Mortality 2000 -2017. WHO. 2019,6.
- WHO. Strategies toward ending preventable maternal mortality (EPMM). WHO. 2015;6736(2013): 1-4.
- Lang'at E, Mwanri L, Temmerman M. Effects of implementing free maternity service policy in Kenya: An interrupted time series analysis. BMC Health Serv Res. 2019;19(1): 1-10. PubMed| Google Scholar
- WHO. WHO recommendations on antenatal care for a positive pregnancy experience. WHO. 2016.
- Tessema ZT, Teshale AB, Tesema GA, Tamirat KS. Determinants of completing recommended antenatal care utilization in sub-Saharan from 2006 to 2018: evidence from 36 countries using Demographic and Health Surveys. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2021;21(1): 1-12.
 PubMed | Google Scholar
- Adedokun ST, Yaya S. Correlates of antenatal care utilization among women of reproductive age in sub-Saharan Africa: evidence from multinomial analysis of demographic and health surveys (2010-2018) from 31 countries. Arch Public Heal. 2020;78(1): 1-10. PubMed| Google Scholar
- Fagbamigbe AF, Idemudia ES. Barriers to antenatal care use in Nigeria: Evidences from non-users and implications for maternal health programming. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2015;15(1): 1-10. PubMed| Google Scholar

- Chimatiro CS, Hajison P, Chipeta E, Muula AS. Understanding barriers preventing pregnant women from starting antenatal clinic in the first trimester of pregnancy in Ntcheu District-Malawi. Reprod Health. 2018;15(1): 1-7.
 PubMed| Google Scholar
- Deo KK, Paudel YR, Khatri RB, Bhaskar RK, Paudel R, Mehata S et al. Barriers to Utilization of Antenatal Care Services in Eastern Nepal. Front Public Heal. 2015;3(August): 1-7.
 PubMed | Google Scholar
- Uldbjerg CS, Schramm S, Kaducu FO, Ovuga E, Sodemann M. Perceived barriers to utilization of antenatal care services in northern Uganda: A qualitative study. Sex Reprod Health c [Internet]. 2020;23: 100464. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article /pii/S1877575619301168. PubMed| Google Scholar
- Suandi D, Williams P, Bhattacharya S. Does involving male partners in antenatal care improve healthcare utilisation? Systematic review and meta-analysis of the published literature from low- And middle-income countries. Int Health. 2020;12(5): 484-98.
 PubMed| Google Scholar
- Natai CC, Gervas N, Sikira FM, Leyaro BJ, Mfanga J, Yussuf MH et al. Association between male involvement during antenatal care and use of maternal health services in Mwanza City, Northwestern Tanzania: A cross-sectional study. BMJ Open. 2020;10(9). PubMed| Google Scholar
- 21. Ayalew M, Gebrie M, Geja E, Beyene B. Determinants of male partner involvement towards prevention of mother to child transmission service utilization among pregnant women who attended focused antenatal care in Southern Ethiopia. HIV/AIDS - Res Palliat Care. 2020;12: 87-95. PubMed | Google Scholar
- Kariuki KF, Seruwagi GK. Determinants of Male Partner Involvement in Antenatal Care in Wakiso District, Uganda. Journal of Advances in Medicine and Medical Research. 2016;18(7): 1-15. PubMed| Google Scholar

Article 3

- Aluisio AR, Bosire R, Betz B, Gatuguta A, Kiarie JN, Nduati R et al. Male Partner Participation in Antenatal Clinic Services is Associated with Improved HIV-free survival Among Infants in Nairobi, Kenya: A Prospective Cohort Study. Physiol Behav. 2017;176(3): 139-48. PubMed Google Scholar
- Ongolly FK, Bukachi SA. Barriers to men's involvement in antenatal and postnatal care in Butula, western Kenya. African J Prim Heal Care Fam Med. 2019;11(1): 1-7. PubMed| Google Scholar
- Mangeni JN, Mwangi A, Mbugua S, Mukthar VK. Male Involvement in Maternal Healthcare as a Determinant of Utilization of Skilled Birth Attendants in Kenya. East Afr Med J. 2012 Nov;89(11): 372-83. PubMed| Google Scholar
- Sally Jepkosgei Kiptoo, Charles Mutai, Mary Kipmerewo. Male Partner Involvement on Maternal Care Services during Perinatal Period in Kakamega County. International Journal of Advanced Research. November 2016;4(11): 1219-1232. Google Scholar
- Nyandieka LN, Njeru MK, Ng Z, Echoka E, Kombe Y. Male Involvement in Maternal Health Planning Key to Utilization of Skilled Birth Services in Malindi Subcounty, Kenya. Hindawi Publishing Corporation Advances in Public Health. 2016; 2016: 8. PubMed| Google Scholar
- Jepkosgei S, Mary K. Male Partner Involvement In Antenatal Care Services In Mumias East. (IOSR-JNHS). 2017;6(4): 37-46. PubMed| Google Scholar
- Micah Matiang'i, Aloo Mojola, Margret Githae. Male involvement in antenatal care redefined: A cross-sectional survey of married men in Lang'ata district, Kenya. 3017;7(3). Google Scholar
- Cochran WG. Sampling Techniques. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc. 1977. Google Scholar
- Mair P, Hatzinger R. Extended Rasch modeling: The eRm package for the application of IRT models in R. Journal of Statistical Software 20(i09). 2007. Google Scholar



- 32. Ltm RD. An R package for latent variable modeling and item response theory analyses. J Stat Softw. 2006;17(5): 1-25. PubMed| Google Scholar
- Magis D, Beland S, Raiche G, Magis MD. Package "difR." 2020;. Google Scholar
- Rasch G. Studies in mathematical psychology: I. Probabilistic models for some intelligence and attainment tests, 1960. Google Scholar
- Alupo P, Atim ER, Kaggwa H, Mudondo C, Ogallo C, Ogwang J et al. Male Partner Involvement in the Utilization of Antenatal Care Services in Kidera, Buyende District, Uganda: Cross Sectional Mixed Methods Study. Busitema University; Research square. 2020. Google Scholar
- Robert Craymah JP, Oppong K, Tuoyire DA. male involvement in maternal health care Anamabo. Int J of Reproductive Med Mon. 2017;2017. PubMed | Google Scholar
- Worku M, Boru B, Amano A, Musa A. Male involvement and associated factors in birth preparedness and complication readiness in Debre Berhan town, North East Ethiopia. Pan Afr Med J. 2020;35: 1-9. PubMed| Google Scholar
- Gibore NS, Ezekiel MJ, Meremo A, Munyogwa MJ, Kibusi SM. Determinants of men's involvement in maternity care in Dodoma region, central Tanzania. J Pregnancy. 2019;2019. PubMed| Google Scholar
- 39. Ditekemena J, Koole O, Colebunders R. Determinants of male involvement in maternal and child health services in sub-Saharan Africa: a review Introduction Methods Participants, interventions and outcome. Reprod Health. 2012;9(32): 1-8. PubMed| Google Scholar
- Maluka SO, Peneza AK. Perceptions on male involvement in pregnancy and childbirth in Masasi District, Tanzania: A qualitative study. Reprod Health. 2018;15(1): 1-7. PubMed Google Scholar

9

Pascalyne Kavesa Nyamai et al. PAMJ - 41(167). 28 Feb 2022. - Page numbers not for citation purposes.



- Murahwa S, Mafaune PT, Chideme-Munodawafa, Chadambuka EM, Chikaka E, Mukuzunga M, Chideme-Munodawafa A. Deter-minants of Male Uptake of Antenatal Care (ANC) services in Mutare City. J Gynecol Neonatal Biol. 2015;3(2): 49-62. PubMed| Google Scholar
- Falade-Fatila O, Adebayo AM. Male partners' involvement in pregnancy related care among married men in Ibadan, Nigeria. Reprod Health. 2020;17(1): 1-12. PubMed| Google Scholar
- 43. Gize A, Eyassu A, Nigatu B, Eshete M, Wendwessen N. Men's knowledge and involvement on obstetric danger signs, birth preparedness and complication readiness in Burayu town, Oromia region, Ethiopia. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2019;19(1): 1-9. PubMed| Google Scholar

- Kabanga E, Chibwae A, Basinda N, Morona D. Prevalence of male partners involvement in antenatal care visits-In Kyela district, Mbeya. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2019;19(1): 1-6. PubMed| Google Scholar
- 45. Al-Mujtaba M, Sam-Agudu NA, Torbunde N, Aliyu MH, Cornelius LI. Access to maternal-child health and HIV services for women in North-Central Nigeria: A qualitative exploration of the male partner perspective. PLoS One. 2020;15(12 December): 1-20. PubMed | Google Scholar
- 46. Nigar Jabeen, Raheela Baloch, Pushpa Malhi, Sana Zahiruddin, Kiran Mawani. Foetomaternal outcome in instrumental vaginal delivery attending a secondary hospital in Hyderabad (Aga Khan Maternal and Child Care Centre). J Pak Med Assoc. 2017 Dec;67(12): 1833-1836. PubMed| Google Scholar



Variable	Category	Frequency (N=300)	Percentage (%)
Δαρ	18-24 Vears	17	5.7
right -	25-34 Years	101	33.7
	35-44 Vears	130	43.3
	45.	52	173
Ase difference	Younger than the wife	15	51
Age unterence	Same ane	23	11.1
	1.5 Vears older	115	26.2
	5+ Vears Older	122	44.6
	N/A	132	44.0
Education Louis	R/A Drimon and Dalary	4	52.2
Education Level	Frimary and Below	157	32.3
	Texting/ Dect secondary	32	30.7
	Pertiary/Post-secondary	51	17.0
Spouse Education Level	Primary and Below	185	61.0
	Secondary	74	24.7
	Tertiary/ Post-secondary	43	14.3
Currently Living with Wife	Yes	264	88.0
	No	36	12.0
Level of income	Below 5,000	94	31.3
	5,000 - 10,000	112	37.3
	11,000 - 20,000	41	13.7
	21,000 - 30,000	19	6.3
	31,000 and Above	34	11.3
Decision on Money earned	Respondent	114	38.0
	Wife	49	16,3
	Respondent and wife	137	45.7
Number of children	1-3	193	64.3
	3-4	57	19.0
	5 and Above	50	16.7
Knowledge of the minimum required number of ANC Visits	No	200	66.7
	Yes	100	33.3
Aware of danger signs of pregnancy	Na	220	73.3
	Yes	80	26.7
Pregnancy Planned	No	79	26.3
	Yes	221	73.7
Went to ANC during previous pregnancies	Yes	198	66.0
	No	102	34.0
Source of information about ANC	Mass/Print Media	47	15.7
	Partner/Wife	65	21.7
	Health care Providers	152	50.7
	Discussion with people	36	12.0
Provider Attitude	Positive	175	58.3
1967 (1977 (1977 (1977 (1977 (1977 (1977 (1977 (1977 (1977 (1977 (1977 (1977 (1977 (1977 (1977 (1977 (1977 (197	Negative	90	30.0
	Not applicable	35	11.7



Table 2: male involvement in antenatal care across 12 dimensions	
Male Involvement Items	
Did you ever accompany your wife to the hospital for their routine antenatal care during the most recent pregnancy?	70(23.3%)
During the most recent pregnancy, did you support use of ANC by your spouse?	251(83.7%)
Did you encourage your wife to attend antenatal clinic?	231(77.0%)
Did you approve your wife going to the ANC clinic?	239(79.7%)
Did you ensure good nutrition for your wife?	273(91.0%)
Did you identify a mode of transportation to the health facility?	223(74.3%)
During the most recent pregnancy, did you discuss about ANC with your wife?	195(65.0%)
Both made decision to attend ANC	118(39.3%)
Who decided the place of delivery?	129(43.0%)
During the most recent pregnancy, did you provide money for clinic costs and medication related to the antenatal clinic visit?	234(78.0%)
During the most recent pregnancy, did you provide money for transport to the clinic?	234(78.0%)
Did you save any money for emergencies related to the pregnancy?	195(65.0%)



Variable	Category	Male Involvement		O.R. (95% C.I.)	Sig.	
	C-9459294597	No (n=117; 39.0%)	Yes (n=183; 61.0%)		0.000	
Age	15-24 Years	11(64.7%)	6(35.3%)	0.29(0.09-0.91)	0.034	
	25-34 Years	39(38,6%)	62(61.4%)	0.84(0.42-1.69)	0.628	
	35-44 Years	49(37.7%)	81(62.3%)	0.88(0.45-1.71)	0.698	
	45+	18(34.6%)	34(65.4%)	Ref.		
Age difference	Younger than spouse	6(40.0%)	9(60.0%)	0.98(0.33-2.90)	0.964	
	Same Age	13(39.4%)	20(60.6%)	1.00(0.46-2.18)	1.000	
	1-5 Years Older	43(37.1%)	73(62.9%)	1.10(0.66-1.84)	0.707	
	6+ Years older	52(39.4%)	80(60.6%)	Ref.		
Education Level	Primary and Below	82(52.2%)	75(47.8%)	0.28(0.14-0.58)	0.001	
	Secondary	23(25.0%)	69(75.0%)	0.92(0.41-2.06)	D.845	
	Tertiary/Post-secondary	12(23.5%)	39(76.5%)	Ref.		
Currently Living with	Yes	100(37.9%)	164(62.1%)	1.47(0.73-2.95)	0.283	
Wife	No	17(47.2%)	19(52.8%)	Ref.		
Wife's Employment	Formal Employment	2(6.5%)	29(93.5%)	11.73(2.73-50.43)	0.001	
status	Informal Employment	22(36.1%)	39(63.9%)	1.43(0.79-2.59)	0.233	
	Not Employed	93(44.7%)	115(55.3%)	Ref.		
Level of income	Below 5,000	51(54.3%)	43(45.7%)	Ref.		
	5,000 - 10,000	46(41.1%)	66(58.9%)	1.70(0.98-2.96)	0.060	
	11,000 - 20,000	14(34.1%)	27(65.9%)	2.29(1.07-4.90)	0.33	
	Above 21,000	6(11.3%)	47(88.7%)	9.29(3.62-23.82)	<0.001	
Decision on Money	Respondent	63(55.3%)	51(44.7%)	0.28(0.16-0.47)	<0.001	
earned	Wife	19(38.8%)	30(61.2%)	0.54(0.27-1.08)	0.082	
-0300	Respondent and wife	35(25.5%)	102(74.5%)	Ref.		
Number of children	1-2	69(35.8%)	124(64.2%)	2.93(1.54-5.57)	0.001	
	3-4	17(29.8%)	40(70.2%)	3.84(1.72-8.59)	0.001	
Age Age difference Education Level Education Level Currently Living with Wife Wife's Employment status Level of income Decision on Money earned Number of children Knowledge of the minimum required number of ANC Visits Aware of danger signs of pregnancy Pregnancy Planned Went to ANC during previous pregnancies Source of information about ANC Provider Attitude	5 and Above	31(62.0%)	19(38.0%)	Ref.	in the second second	
Knowledge of the	No	101(50.5%)	99(49.5%)	0.19(0.10-0.34)	<0.001	
minimum required number of ANC Visits	Yes	16(16.0%)	84(84.0%)	Ref.		
Aware of danger signs	No	100(45.5%)	120(54.5%)	0.32(0.18-0.59)	<0.001	
of pregnancy	Yes	17(21.3%)	63(78.8%)	Ref.	a construction	
Pregnancy Planned	No	56(70.9%)	23(29.1%)	0.16(0.09-0.28)	<0.001	
	Yes	61(27.6%)	160(72.4%)	Ref.		
Went to ANC during	Yes	54(27.3%)	144(72.7%)	4.31(2.59-7.15)	<0.001	
previous pregnancies	No	63(61.8%)	39(38.2%)	Ref.		
Source of information	Mass/Print Media	17(36.2%)	30(63.8%)	3.12(1.26-7.71)	0.014	
about ANC	Partner/Wife	42(64.6%)	23(35.4%)	0.97(0.41-2.26)	0.942	
	Health care Providers	35(23.0%)	117(77.0%)	5.91(2.72-12.87)	<0.001	
	Discussion with people	23(63.9%)	13(36.1%)	Ref.		
Info [*] s Employment Info [*] s Employment Info [*] s Employment Info [*] s Employment Info [*] s Employe Info [*] s Empl	Positive	59(33.7%)	116(66.3%)	1.86(0.89-3.87)	0.098	
	Negative	41(45.6%)	49(54.4%)	1.13(0.52-2.47)	0.762	
	Not applicable	17(48.6%)	18(51,4%)	Ref.	-	

Pascalyne Kavesa Nyamai et al. PAMJ - 41(167). 28 Feb 2022, - Page numbers not for citation purposes.

13



Variable	Category	A.O. R	95% C.I. A.O.R.		Sig.
			Lower	Upper	
Age	18-24 Years	0.22	0.05	1.03	0.055
	25-34 Years	0.39	0.14	1.12	0.080
	35-44 Years	0.43	0.16	1.15	0.092
	45+				
Education Level	Primary and Below	0.80	0.26	2.43	0.692
	Secondary	1.19	0.36	4.00	0.775
	Tertiary/ Post- secondary	Ref.			
Wife's Employment status	Formal Employment	3.40	0.52	22.01	0.200
a na se se su ca 🕷 ana 🕬 a su su se	Informal Employment	0.86	0.36	2.07	0.741
	Not Employed	Ref.			
Number of children	1-2	4.57	1.70	12.31	0.003
	3-4	4.84	1.59	14.79	0.006
	5andAbove	Ref.			
Knowledge of the minimum required number of	No	0.37	0.17	0.83	0.016
ANC Visits	Yes	Ref.			
Aware of danger signs of pregnancy	No	0.47	0.20	1.09	0.079
62 8 1 8 144 A	Yes	Ref.			
Pregnancy Planned	No	0.22	0.10	0.48	<0.001
	Yes	Ref.			
Went to ANC during previous pregnancies	Yes	4.96	2.37	10.38	<0.001
	No	Ref.			
Level of income	Below 5,000	0.55	0.10	2.97	0.484
	5,000 - 10,000	0.49	0.10	2.49	0.388
	11,000 - 20,000	0.65	0.12	3.51	0.617
	21,000 - 30,000	1.39	0.16	12.22	0.766
	Above 30,000	Ref.			
Decision on Money earned	Respondent	0.43	0.21	0.89	0.023
	Wife	0.39	0.15	1.04	0.059
	Respondent and wife	Ref.	5 S		5
Source of information about ANC	Mass/Print Media	1.58	0.48	5.19	0.454
	Partner/Wife	1.10	0.38	3.17	0.865
	Health care Providers	2.35	0.84	6.52	0.102
	Discussion with people	Ref.			
Provider Attitude	Positive	2.60	0.86	7.87	0.091
	Negative	2.04	0.65	6.37	0.221
	Not applicable	Ref.			

Pascalyne Kavesa Nyamai et al. PAMI - 41(167). 28 Feb 2022. - Page numbers not for citation purposes.

Appendix VII: Map of Kitui County

